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REVIEW OF ACTIVITIES
OVERVIEW
Firefly Resources Limited (Firefly or the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) has an overriding focus on identifying
geological opportunity and exploring for gold in Western Australia.
Throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2021 (FY2021), the Group’s core focus was on progressing exploration
programs at its 100%-owned Yalgoo Gold Project, located 110km west of Mt Magnet in the Murchison region of Western
Australia. These programs culminated in the delivery of a maiden Mineral Resource Estimate (MRE) for the cornerstone
Melville Deposit comprising 196,388oz @ 1.45g/t (0.7g/t cut-off) from surface, with 80% of contained ounces in the higherconfidence Indicated Resource category1.
Following the completion of the Melville MRE, Firefly commenced a major 30,000m drilling campaign aimed at establishing
JORC Resources across a further seven prospects in 2021, with outstanding assays received from this drilling program
across multiple prospects by the end of the reporting period.
On the corporate front, Firefly completed the de-merger of its non-core manganese assets during FY2021 via the
successful $5.5 million IPO and ASX listing of former wholly-owned subsidiary, Firebird Metals Limited (Firebird), with
Firefly shareholders receiving an in-specie distribution of 25 million Firebird shares.
In June 2021, Firefly entered into a binding Scheme Implementation Deed with Gascoyne Resources Limited (ASX: GCY)
(Gascoyne), pursuant to which the two companies will merge by way of a Scheme of Arrangement (Merger).
The Merger will combine two gold companies with complementary assets in the Murchison region of Western Australia,
unlocking a number of synergies by leveraging Gascoyne’s gold mining expertise and available processing infrastructure
at Dalgaranga, for the benefit of Firefly’s highly prospective suite of assets including its flagship Yalgoo Gold Project which
is located only 110km by road from Dalgaranga.
The Merger will create a leading, regional gold production
and development business and unlock significant value for
Gascoyne and Firefly shareholders by integrating Yalgoo’s
near surface higher grade deposits into the Dalgaranga
production plan – providing opportunities to substantially
extend and optimise the existing mining schedule, ultimately
improving project economics.
Following completion of the Merger, Firefly shareholders will
hold approximately 32 per cent of a much larger, regional
gold company with strong cash-flows and enhanced market
positioning, as well as the financial and technical firepower to
rapidly unlock the exploration potential of the combined
Yalgoo and Dalgaranga greenstone belts.
YALGOO GOLD PROJECT, W.A. – 100% OWNED
In June 2020, Firefly executed a binding agreement to
acquire a 100% interest in the advanced Yalgoo Gold Project,
located 110km west of Mt Magnet in the Murchison region of
Western Australia, through the acquisition of 100% of the
issued capital of Aurum Minerals Pty Ltd (Aurum).
Following the receipt of Program of Works (POW) approvals,
Firefly commenced its maiden drilling program at the Yalgoo
Gold Project in early August 2020. The program comprised
10,000m of Reverse Circulation (RC) drilling across the main
Melville Gold Deposit and the Don Bradman Gold Prospect
to the south of Melville, with the drilling underpinning the
delivery of a maiden JORC 2012 Mineral Resource Estimate
for the Melville deposit.
The maiden drilling campaign was immediately followed by a
30,000m drill program to deliver Mineral Resource Estimates
for at least a further seven prospects at the Yalgoo Gold
Project and evaluate the Project’s broader upside and growth
potential.
Figure 1. Firefly Resources Limited Projects

1

Refer ASX announcement titled “Maiden 196,000oz JORC 2021 Resource – Revised Announcement” dated 17 March 2021 for further details.
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Figure 2. Firefly’s Yalgoo Gold Project illustrating the Company’s regional-scale tenure and applications across the under-explored YalgooSingleton greenstone belt as well as proximity to multiple gold-specific and gold-capable process plants.
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Melville Deposit
Maiden JORC Resource Estimate
Following the completion of the drilling program outlined above, Firefly Resources reported a maiden JORC 2012 MRE
for the Melville Deposit in March 2021.
The MRE was independently checked and verified by suitably qualified consultants at Entech Pty Ltd, a highly-regarded
Perth-based mining consultancy.
The relevant metrics for the Melville MRE are shown in Table 1 below. Note the high degree of resource conversion from
Inferred to Indicated category at 80%, which provides a significant measure of the Company’s confidence in the quality of
the in-ground resource.
Table 1: Melville JORC 2012 Mineral Resource Estimate1
Indicated

Inferred

Total

Tonnes

Au (g/t)

Ounces

Tonnes

Au (g/t)

Ounces

Tonnes

Au (g/t)

Ounces

3,314,900

1.47

156,753

887,547

1.39

39,635

4,202,447

1.45

196,388

1Calculated

using a 0.7g/t cut-off grade

The current resource footprint covers an area of just 0.9km of the 5.0km-plus strike length of the Melville/Oakford gold
trend, with the resource extending to a depth of just 200m, providing extensive opportunities along-strike and at depth for
further Resource growth.
Full details of the Melville MRE were provided in the Company’s ASX Announcement dated 17 March 2021.
Resource Definition Drilling
Drilling at the cornerstone Melville Deposit during the reporting period was designed to validate the historical resource
information and extend the mineralised zone.
Results from this drilling delivered spectacular high-grade intercepts with highlights including:
•

•

6m at 244.9g/t from 50m including 1m at 1,439.55g/t from 51m and 1m at 16.95g/t from 55m, 14m at 1.00g/t
from 58m including 1m @ 2.61g/t and 1m @ 3.73g/t, and 2m @ 1.06g/t from 106m to the end-of-hole (in a
mineralised porphyry unit) (FMRC0008)
22m @ 5.36g/t including 5m @ 17.50g/t with 1m @ 73.30g/t (FMRC0031);

•

24m @ 3.50g/t including 3m @ 11.77g/t and 4m @ 7.71g/t, 2m @ 2.97g/t and 5m @ 3.39g/t including 2m @
6.50g/t (FMRC0011);

•

13m at 3.65g/t from 113m including 4m at 9.19g/t from 119m (FMRC0010)

•

17m @ 2.75g/t including 3m @ 7.48g/t (FMRC0033);

•

48m @ 1.71g/t from 33m, including 6m @ 5.28g/t from 35m and 9m @ 2.4g/t from 70m, 1m @ 5.72g/t from
93m and 2m @ 21.98g/t from 107m (porphyry vein) (FMRC0004);

•

4m @ 3.63g/t from 38m, including 1m @ 11.3g/t from 38m, and 1m @ 1.04g/t from 47m and 1m @ 1.07g/t
from 64m (FMRC0001).

Results confirmed the presence of extensive, shallow, high-grade gold mineralisation at Melville, and underpinned the
delivery of the maiden MRE outlined above.
Surface Grade Control Drilling
Following the completion of the maiden MRE for the Melville deposit, Firefly commenced a program of 7,000m of closespaced Grade Control (GC) drilling across the shallow, flat-lying gold mineralised Oxide Zone that overlays the key Melville
Gold Deposit.
The drill program consisted of 600 small diameter RC drill-holes drilled at a collar spacing of 10m x 10m across the
projected extents of the mineralisation. Each GC hole was drilled vertically to 12m depth and sampled at 1m intervals to
give maximum data resolution through the thickness of the Oxide Zone.
Assay results from the grade control drill program confirmed the widespread distribution of shallow gold mineralisation
extending over hundreds of metres both along and across strike overlying the 196koz Mineral Resource outlined above.
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Figure 3. Plan view showing the distribution of the grade control drill program relative to the recently announced 2021 Mineral Resource
envelope and the area of the previously announced Tribute Mining Agreement.
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Figure 4. Indicative cross-sections from the Melville Gold Deposit grade control drill program showing broad shallow gold mineralisation.

Significant intercepts are summarised below and shown in Figure 4 above:
•
•

2m @ 2.07g/t from 2m (FMGC0351)
2m @ 2.44g/t from 1m (FMGC0352)

•

5m @ 2.63g/t from surface, including 1m @ 8.19g/t (FMGC0353)

•

12m @ 4.48g/t from surface, including 4m @ 8.90g/t (FMGC0354)

•

7m @ 2.68g/t from surface, including 2m @ 6.45g/t (FMGC0355)

•

5m @ 1.03g/t from surface (FMGC0356)

•

6m @ 1.96g/t from 2m, including 2m @ 4.35g/t (FMGC0366)

•

5m @ 4.16g/t from surface, including 2m @ 8.33g/t (FMGC0367)

•

12m @ 3.05g/t from surface, including 2m @ 5.80g/t (FMGC0368)

•

12m @ 1.40g/t from surface, including 3m @ 3.12g/t (FMGC0369)

•

4m @ 1.06g/t from surface (FMGC0370)

These assays will contribute to a second JORC 2012 Mineral Resource Estimate for the Melville deposit, providing a highresolution Grade Control model for the shallow “blanket” of gold mineralisation over Melville and the first material to be
mined in any potential open pit.
These assays will contribute to a second JORC 2012 Mineral Resource Estimate for the Melville deposit, providing a highresolution Grade Control model for the shallow “blanket” of gold mineralisation over Melville and the first material to be
mined in any potential open pit.
Applecross Prospect
The Applecross Prospect is located 200-400m along-strike to the north of the Melville Deposit and represents one of the
prime targets for near-term Resource growth, with a maiden MRE expected to be delivered before the end of calendar
2021.
Six RC holes were drilled at the Applecross Prospect to test for potential northern extensions to the Melville JORC
Resource area and to follow-up several historical drill intercepts with contrasting geology logs and 4m composite assays
(see Figures 4 and 5 – Section “AA”).
8
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Figure 5. Plan view of the Melville Gold Deposit with historical drilling, recent Firefly RC drill-hole locations and the wider mineralised Melville
corridor targeted by the recent phase of drilling.

The six holes drilled at Applecross defined a thick mineralised BIF-unit at shallow depth with similar geometry to Melville
(FARC002, FARC003 and FARC004), as well as a separate mineralised porphyry “swarm” at depth located 50-100m to
the east (FARC001).
The most westerly holes (FARC005 and FARC006) drilled at the Applecross prospect have defined a probable local-scale
structural offset in the west of the section – which also fits with the Company’s geological interpretation of the regional
architecture (see Figure 5).outcropping mineralised structures (Figure 6). Firefly management has validated the presence
of both hard-rock and alluvial gold during due diligence conducted on the acquisition.
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Figure 6. Cross-section “AA” through the Applecross Gold Prospect looking north. Note the thick shallow mineralised BIF unit similar to that
seen at the Melville Gold Deposit 300m to the south and the presence of mineralised porphyry at depth in the east.

Don Bradman Prospect
The Don Bradman gold prospect is located 2km south of the Melville Gold Deposit and sits astride a Banded-IronFormation (BIF) host rock unit. This prospect represents a parallel high-grade gold analogue to Melville, with a maiden
Mineral Resource Estimate expected to be delivered before the end of CY2021.
Firefly completed a maiden Reserve Circulation drilling program at the Don Bradman prospect during FY2021, delivering
positive assay results and confirming the potential for strong resource growth.
Highlights from the assay results included:
•
5m @ 5.11g/t from 85m including 2m @ 9.32g/t and 4m @ 2.08g/t from 126m (FDRC0008)
•

9m @ 1.69g/t from 35m including 2m @ 4.56g/t (FDRC0004)

•

5m @ 1.99g/t from 57m including 2m @ 3.49g/t (FDRC0006)

•

2m @ 3.43g/t from 64m (FDRC0003)

•

2m @ 2.80g/t from 47m including 1m @ 5.32g/t (FDRC0013)

•

8m @ 1.26g/t from 105m including 1m @ 3.72g/t (FDRC0011)

The iron-rich and layered sedimentary nature of BIF units represent both a chemical trap-site and a permeable host for
gold mineralisation. The magnetite present in BIF rocks also makes them easily discernible using magnetic remote sensing
geophysical methods.
In light of this, Firefly commissioned an expansive Sub-Audio-Magnetic (SAM) survey over the Melville, Don Bradman and
southern United-Victory prospect areas. This survey was primarily designed to identify breaks or displacements in the
magnetic BIF units beneath the ground as they represent faults or shears that have introduced intrusives, including
porphyrytic and pegmatitic intrusions and their associated gold-bearing fluids, into the host BIF rock package.
Both styles of intrusives have been observed at the nearby Melville Gold Deposit and are intimately associated with the
introduction of gold mineralisation there. The drilling at Don Bradman has confirmed a series of high-grade mineralised
quartz veins on both contacts across multiple porphyry units intruding the host BIF sequence.
The collar locations of the recent Firefly drill-holes are shown in Plan View in Figure 7, relative to the locations of the known
mineralised BIF units and the identified, but as yet untested, BIF units captured in the SAM geophysical survey.
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Of particular note is the large-volume BIF unit in the south-east of Figure 7, representing a potential “Melville-size”
analogue.
The larger the extent of magnetite-rich BIF rocks or volume of “reactive rock” is thought to provide a proxy for the size of
the chemical trap potentially hosting significant gold mineralisation, such as that seen at Melville.

Figure 7. Plan view of the emerging Don Bradman gold prospect, approx. 2km south of the 196koz Melville Gold Deposit.

Figure 8. Cross-section looking north through just one of the thinner BIF units at Don Bradman. The intrusion of porphyry rock within the BIF
horizon has resulted in the development of parallel mineralised contact “shears” on either side of the intrusive unit. The contact mineralisation
style of gold emplacement is observed at approximately 50-60 other historic gold workings across the Yalgoo goldfield and Firefly ground with
almost all of those examples untested by drilling or other modern exploration work.
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Figure 9. Overview of the high-resolution SAM geophysical survey results (TMI) overlaid with registered gold workings (spheres) and recently
mapped unregistered gold workings (mine symbols) across northern Yalgoo. The strong correlation of all registered and unregistered gold
workings to breaks in the magnetic BIF units is highly visible. The Melville gold deposit resource outline is shown to the north of Don Bradman.

Resource Drilling – Other Deposits
A program of approximately 13,000m of resource definition drilling commenced across the Victoria United Gold Prospect,
the Crescent Gold Prospect and the City of Melbourne Gold Mine in May 2021.
The drilling at Victoria United will be the first drill-holes drilled across the 30 or so historical high-grade shaft and stope
gold workings along the 2km long trend, while the assays from the Crescent and City of Melbourne drilling will underpin
two additional JORC 2012-compliant Mineral Resource Estimates for these two prospects in the latter half of 2021.
A fourth phase of drilling is scheduled to commence in the third quarter of 2021 and will comprise approximately 6,000m
of RC drilling across the Brilliant Gold Prospect and Eagles Nest (the Holland Acquisition) prospects.
Drilling at the former prospect will underpin a JORC 2012-compliant Mineral Resource update while the drilling at Eagles
Nest will be the first exploration drilling ever undertaken to define the in-situ high-grade gold structures from which
significant alluvial gold has been derived over the years.
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Figure 10. Regional plan over 1VD magnetics illustrating the priority advanced gold prospects across Firefly’s Yalgoo Gold Project.
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Regional Rock Chip Sampling
Firefly has identified multiple unrecorded and undrilled gold shafts and shallow workings across the northern extent of the
Yalgoo Gold Project from high-resolution drone imagery.
Ground-truthing and geological mapping of these workings illustrated a porphyry/shear/Banded Iron Formation (BIF)
relationship to gold mineralisation at all the mapped occurrences.
Opportunistic sampling at a number of the historical workings, as well as on a sheared porphyry contact outcropping across
an access track (Speedhump), returned significant assays at surface including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

FFR20663 – 1.27g/t – “Speedhump” quartz vein outcropping in access track
FFR20664 – 4.54g/t – “Rowan+Moores Find” – 3 x historical shafts along 700m of strike
FFR20665 – 6.58g/t – “Rowan+Moores Find” – 3 x historical shafts along 700m of strike
FFR20675 – 10.56g/t – “Lady Lydia South” – 4 x shallow pits along 300m of strike
FFR20676 – 1.87g/t – “Lady Lydia” – 2 x historical shafts along 200m of strike
FFR20710 – 2.84g/t – “Might Be” – Shallow pit 500m SW of Don Bradman
FFR20712 – 12.38g/t – “Good Companions” – 2 x historical shafts
FFR20713 – 3.93g/t – “Good Companions” – 2 x historical shafts
FFR20714 – 7.96g/t – “Drumline” – 3 x historical shafts (spoil sample)

Based on the strength of these results, Firefly undertook concentrated sampling of a number of the historical workings
around the high-priority intersection of the Western and Eastern Gold Trends. Results from this sampling have elevated
this area to a high-priority exploration target, delivering high-grade assay results from a number of targets.

Figure 11. Plan view of northern Yalgoo Gold Project illustrating the widespread gold mineralisation that Firefly has defined as the Western and
Eastern Gold Trends. Of particular note are the numerous workings at the intersection of the two gold trends and the very high-grade assays
reported from this area in the announcement dated 23 June 2021.
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The Drumline, Drumline South, Mako, Hammerhead and Good Companions prospects are all situated within a 3km 2 area
at the intersection of the regional folded stratigraphy where the Western and Eastern Gold Trends collide. Sampling of
outcrop and workings in this area returned very high-grade assays including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

FFR20747 – 127.60g/t – “Drumline South” – in-situ quartz/sulphides in stope wall
FFR20748 – 20.72g/t – “Drumline South” – in-situ quartz/sulphides outcrop in pillar
FFR20749 – 2.63g/t – “Drumline South” – in-situ quartz/sulphides outcrop on surface
FFR20750 – 6.92g/t – “Drumline South” – in-situ quartz/sulphides outcrop in creek
FFR20751 – 19.14g/t – “Drumline” – quartz and sulphides
FFR20752 – 3.68g/t – “Drumline” – shaft spoil grab
FFR20754 – 2.42g/t – “Mako” – hilltop large shaft outcropping quartz
FFR20759 – 6.06g/t – “Hammerhead” – long collapsed stope outcropping quartz veining
FFR20760 – 8.37g/t – “Good Companions” – weathered sulphides in BIF
FFR20761 – 14.85g/t – Good Companions” – weathered sulphides in BIF

The very high grades seen in the sampling of workings at the intersection of the Western and Eastern Gold Trends, as
well as the notable “demagnetisation” of the BIF rocks in the area, is seen as a strong indicator of a potentially large-scale
mineralised system at this important structural “collision zone”.
Expansion of the Yalgoo Gold Project
Firefly secured further strategic additions to its landholding at the 100%-owned Yalgoo Gold Project in Western Australia,
completing the “Holland Acquisition” in August 2020 and acquiring Prospecting Licences P59/2088 and P59/2089 in March
2021.
The Holland Acquisition represents a strategic tenement package containing untested historical high-grade gold mines in
the Yalgoo goldfield.
The acquisition covers 4.5km2 of folded greenstone bedrock stratigraphy containing at least four historical high-grade gold
mines (shafts) and a number of alluvial gold “patches” thought to be derived from the weathering of the related outcropping
mineralised structures. Firefly management has validated the presence of both hard-rock and alluvial gold during due
diligence conducted on the Holland Acquisition.
The acquisition included five tenements, two Mining Leases, and three Prospecting Leases, located immediately alongstrike from the two main mineralised trends at Yalgoo, namely the Brilliant or “Northwest” and the Melville or “North” trends
as well, as the folded inflection point between the two trends which may represent a significant regional-scale gold target
in itself.
In addition to the strategically located tenements, the Holland Acquisition includes a significant amount of mining and
processing equipment and infrastructure, including a fully-operational 25-30tph gold process plant “washplant”, a
Caterpillar 950F front-end loader and a Mercedes Benz dump-truck, production water-bore, water storage and pumping
equipment, several generators, a covered workshop and sea-containers and a full “off-grid” 3-person accommodation
facility.
Prospecting Licences P59/2088 and P59/2089, acquired in March 2021, are located within the central portion of the
Company’s Yalgoo tenements.
The acquisition of these tenements has provided Firefly with complete coverage of the structural corridor hosting gold
mineralisation across the northern Yalgoo Gold Project, as well as 100% coverage of the numerous and extensive, thick
pegmatite intrusions that cover 10’s of kilometres of the tenure package.
These pegmatites had historically been mined for beryl and bismuth, but also contain very high-grade molybdenum and
tungsten as well as the lithium mineral, lepidolite. Previous rock-chipping returned a sample assaying 3.75% LiO2 from
surface outcrop.

Figure 12. Gold nuggets recovered from lease P59/2088 at newly defined prospect “Maddison’s Find”.
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PATERSON COPPER-GOLD PROJECT, W.A. – 100% OWNED
The Paterson Project is located in the world-class Paterson Province of northern Western Australia and covers
approximately 600km2 across three separate tenement packages – northern, central and southern.
Each tenement group sits in highly prospective locations either containing, or located directly along-strike from, existing
copper-gold prospects.
The Paterson Province hosts several major copper and gold operations, including the Nifty copper mine and the worldclass Telfer gold mine, and has more recently seen a number of exciting new copper-gold discoveries, at Winu (Rio Tinto)
and Havieron (Greatland Gold, now joint ventured with Newcrest).
Firefly has been working toward planning of surface activities over the Paterson Project, with specific focus on the shallow
high-grade Wanderer Copper-Gold Prospect, including an inaugural drill program as well as on-ground sampling and
geophysical targeting work.
Firefly has identified the Wanderer Copper-Gold Prospect – located in its Central Tenements project area, and first
discovered by CRA in 1987 targeting basement-unconformity uranium deposits – as its key advanced prospect and initial
“walk-up” drill target. Recent geophysical work has also highlighted the prospectivity of the Wanderer target and nearby
areas and illustrated a number of coincident targets to be followed up.
CORPORATE
Merger with Gascoyne Resources Limited
On 16 June 2021, Firefly entered into a binding Scheme Implementation Deed with Gascoyne Resources Limited (ASX:
GCY) (Gascoyne), pursuant to which the two companies will merge by way of a Scheme of Arrangement.
The Merger will combine two gold companies with complementary assets in the Murchison region of Western Australia,
unlocking a number of synergies by leveraging Gascoyne’s gold mining expertise and available processing infrastructure
at Dalgaranga, for the benefit of Firefly’s highly prospective suite of assets including its flagship Yalgoo Gold Project which
is located only 110km by road from Dalgaranga.
The Merger will create a leading, regional gold production and development business (Combined Entity) and unlock
significant value for Gascoyne and Firefly shareholders by integrating Yalgoo’s near surface higher grade deposits into
the Dalgaranga production plan – providing opportunities to substantially extend and optimise the existing mining schedule,
ultimately improving project economics.
The Merger is to be implemented by way of the Scheme, under which Gascoyne will acquire 100% of the fully paid ordinary
shares in Firefly. Firefly shareholders will receive 0.34 Gascoyne shares for each Firefly share held at the Scheme record
date, which will result in shareholders of Gascoyne and Firefly having an interest in the Combined Entity of approximately
67.4% and 32.6%, respectively2.
The Firefly Board members have confirmed their intention to vote in favour of the Scheme in respect of Firefly shares they
hold or control, representing approximately 6.87% of Firefly's issued shares, in the absence of a superior proposal.
Major shareholders of Firefly representing a further 17.17% of Firefly's issued shares, have entered into binding voting
deeds with Gascoyne under which they agree to vote in favour of the Scheme, in the absence of a superior proposal and
subject to an independent expert opining that the Scheme is in the best interests of Firefly shareholders.
Following Scheme implementation, Gascoyne will continue to be led by Managing Director and CEO, Richard Hay, with
Firefly’s Managing Director and CEO, Simon Lawson, joining the Board of Gascoyne as a Non-Executive Director. The
Combined Entity is estimated to have a pro forma market capitalisation of $159.0 million, cash and equivalents of $33.0
million and bank debt of $17.5 million for a net cash position of $15.5 million as at 31 March 2021 (see ASX Announcement
dated 16 June 2021). The Combined Entity will have approximately 372.3 million fully paid ordinary shares on issue and
continue to trade as Gascoyne Resources Limited under the ASX ticker GCY.
Key customary conditions to the implementation of the Scheme include, amongst others:
•

Approval being obtained from Firefly shareholders in relation to the Scheme (requiring approval of a majority
in number of Firefly shareholders voting and approval of Firefly shareholders who represent at least 75% of
the total votes cast). A shareholder meeting to approve the Scheme will be held on 21 October 2021;

•

Court approval in relation to the Scheme;

•

An independent expert concluding that the Scheme is in the best interests of Firefly shareholders; and

•

No material adverse change, or prescribed occurrences or regulated events (each as defined in the SID)
occurring in relation to either Gascoyne or Firefly.

2

Assuming all Firefly “in-the-money” unlisted options are exercised and converted into Gascoyne shares and assuming a pre-determined BlackScholes valuation for Firefly “out-of-the-money” unlisted options.
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The SID includes certain exclusivity arrangements in respect of Firefly and Gascoyne (including “no shop”, and “no talk”
obligations on both parties, and a "notification" and “matching right” in favour of Gascoyne), and a customary break fee
payable by either Gascoyne or Firefly in certain circumstances. The exclusivity arrangements are subject to customary
exceptions that enable both the Firefly and Gascoyne Boards to comply with their fiduciary and / or statutory duties.
All outstanding Firefly options are intended to be exercised or cancelled prior to the Scheme implementation date. Subject
to the terms and conditions of each option cancellation deed, each Firefly option holder will receive Gascoyne shares in
consideration for the cancellation of their Firefly options.
In addition, Gascoyne and Firefly also intend to undertake a demerger of their copper-gold and lithium exploration assets
in the Paterson, Murchison and Forrestania regions of WA.
A binding Demerger Implementation Deed (DID) was signed subsequent to the end of the Quarter, pursuant to which
Gascoyne and Firefly have agreed the terms of a demerger of various assets, including the Paterson Copper-Gold Project,
the Forrestania Gold Project3 and lithium mineral rights over various tenements held by both Gascoyne and Firefly which
are to be acquired by a newly incorporated wholly owned subsidiary of Firefly, Firetail Resources Limited.
The Demerger will be conducted by way of an equal capital reduction in Firefly and an in-specie distribution of shares in
Firetail to Firefly shareholders. Under the Demerger Firefly shareholders will receive one (1) share in Firetail for
approximately every 11.914 Firefly shares they hold at the record date. Upon completion of the Demerger, existing Firefly
and Gascoyne shareholders will have an approximate 90.1% and 9.9% interest in Firetail, respectively.
Firetail will initially be a publicly unlisted company with an intention to seek an ASX listing at a later date following
implementation of the Merger. As part of the Demerger, Firefly will make available up to $1.5 million in cash to Firetail
which will comprise the payment of certain Firetail expenses (including reimbursement of transaction costs and immediate
working capital requirements) with the remainder of such amount to be transferred to Firetail (subject to certain conditions).
Shareholders of Firefly will be asked to approve the Scheme and the Demerger at separate shareholder meetings which
will be held on 21 October 2021. The Scheme and Demerger are not inter-conditional.
Full particulars of the Scheme and Demerger, transaction terms and recommendations were provided to shareholders
through the Scheme Booklet which was registered with ASIC and lodged on the ASX on 8 September 2021.
Demerger of Non-Core Manganese Assets
In March 2021, Firefly completed the demerger of its non-core manganese assets, with its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Firebird Metals Limited, completing a $5.5 million initial public offer (IPO) and listing on the ASX (ASX Code: FRB).
Following the receipt of Firefly shareholder and ASX approval, and as outlined in the Firebird Metals prospectus dated 28
January 2021, an in-specie distribution of 25 million Firebird Metals Limited shares was completed to eligible Firefly
shareholders at record date (being 5 March 2021).
Each eligible Firefly shareholder received approximately 1 share in Firebird (FRB) for every 12 shares held in Firefly (FFR),
with holding statements despatched to shareholders advising them of their new holding in Firebird Metals.
Firebird shares commenced normal trading on the ASX on Thursday, 18 March 2021 under the ASX ticker code “FRB”.
The Board of Firebird Metals is comprised of Mr Evan Cranston as Non-Executive Chairman, Mr Peter Allen as Managing
Director, Mr Wei Li in the role of Finance Director and Mr Ashley Pattison as Non-Executive Director.
Sale of Forrestania Gold-Lithium Project
In March 2021, Firefly entered into a binding Terms Sheet with unlisted resource company Forrestania Resources Pty Ltd
(Forrestania Resources) to sell its 100%-owned Forrestania Gold Project, located 380km east of Perth in Western
Australia.
Forrestania Resources is an entity associated with WA mining executives John Hannaford and David Izzard which is
proposing to list on the ASX via either an Initial Public Offering (IPO) or an agreement with an existing ASX-listed entity
(RTO Entity).
The decision to divest the Forrestania Gold Project follows a strategic review of the Company’s assets outside of the
flagship Yalgoo Gold Project and the Paterson Copper-Gold Project in Western Australia.

3

As outlined below, subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Forrestania Resources Pty Ltd exercised its option to acquire the Forrestania
Gold Project. In accordance with the Term Sheet, the project has been sold to Forrestania Resources Pty Ltd and the consideration received will
be transferred to Firetail. Further details on the Term Sheet are set out in the Company’s ASX Announcements dated 17 March 2021 and 31
August 2021.
4
Ratio still approximate and has been revised slightly from what was anticipated in Firefly’s 8 July 2021 ASX Announcement due to how many
options are expected to be exercised as opposed to cancelled as part of the merger.
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Firefly’s tenure at the Forrestania Gold Project comprises over 1,000 square kilometres of tenements focused on the wellendowed southern Forrestania Greenstone Belt, a 100km long, north-to-south package of variously metamorphosed
mafic/ultramafic/volcano-sedimentary rocks that host the historic 1Moz Bounty gold deposit, the operating Flying Fox and
Spotted Quoll nickel mines, and the more recently discovered Earl Grey lithium deposit.
Firefly has undertaken limited lithium and gold-focused exploration programs across its tenement package over the past
two years, resulting in the discovery of two new structural gold positions at Gemcutter and Crossroads in previously
overlooked areas.
However, the Company’s focus has shifted to the more advanced Yalgoo Gold Project since acquiring that project in mid2020, and the Board has determined that its financial and management resources should continue to be focused on
progressing the Yalgoo asset while also commencing initial exploration activities at its Paterson Copper-Gold Project.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Forrestania Resources exercised its option to proceed with the acquisition.
The consideration is the issue of $1.25 million worth shares in Forrestania Resources at completion plus $50,000 cash
and a further milestone payment of $500,000 in shares which is payable on the definition of JORC Code 2012 Resource
of at least 250,000oz of gold at over 2g/t Au (see ASX announcement, 17 March 2021).
On 30 September 2021, Firefly announced that the transaction had completed. The Company also advised that all
consideration received to date and any rights to deferred consideration from the sale of the Forrestania Gold Project would
be transferred or assigned to Firetail at completion of the proposed Demerger.
Full details of the proposed Demerger were provided in the Company’s ASX Announcement dated 8 July 2021.
Board Changes
Following the completion of the acquisition of the Yalgoo Gold Project from Aurum Minerals Pty Ltd in July 2020, Firefly
appointed experienced mining executive Ashley Pattison, with effect on 3 September 2020, to its Board as a non-executive
director.
As a result of the acquisition, a number of shareholders of Aurum have become major shareholders in Firefly, with the
right to appoint a representative to the Company’s board. Mr Pattison was the founder of Aurum.
Mr Pattison is a Chartered Accountant with over 20 years’ experience in the resource sector across corporate finance,
strategy and project operations. Having lived and worked in several countries, he has gained substantial exposure to
exploration and producing operations in Australia and South America. He has also held senior executive positions including
as Managing Director of a number of listed and private mining companies over the past 10 years and also as CEO of a
listed mining service company.
Concurrently with Mr Pattison’s appointment, long-serving Firefly Director Mr John Hutton stepped down from the board
to continue his focus on new projects in the exploration sector and to manage the new growth of his other business
commitments.
Capital Raising
On 30 June 2020, the Company announced a fully-underwritten non-renounceable entitlement offer on the basis of three
(3) new shares for every seven (7) shares held at an issue price of $0.03 per new share to raise approximately $1.03
million before costs (Entitlement Offer), forming part of a broader $2.3 million capital raising, including a $1.3 million
strategic share placement by the Vendor, Aurum Minerals Pty Ltd, and sophisticated and professional investors
(Placement), that would underpin planned exploration programs at the recently secured Yalgoo Gold Project. The
Placement was priced at $0.03 per share.
The Company completed the Entitlement Offer and Placement in August 2020. The Underwriter and Lead Manager,
Argonaut Capital, was paid a 6% underwriting fee on all funds raised pursuant to the Entitlement Offer and a 6% capital
raising fee in respect of $150,000 raised through the Placement. The Company paid a 6% capital raising fee in respect of
the remaining $1.15 million raised through the Placement.
In October 2020, the Company raised $6 million (before costs) through a strongly supported share placement to expand
and accelerate its ongoing drilling and exploration programs at the Yalgoo Project (Placement).
The Placement, comprising the issue of 40 million fully paid ordinary shares at $0.15 per share, was undertaken to existing
and new sophisticated and professional investors. Several existing or strategic shareholders of Firefly subscribed for a
total of $3 million, or 50%, of the Placement.
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The Placement price of $0.15 per share represented:
•

A 12% discount to the last traded price of $0.17 per share;

•

A 14% discount to the 10-day VWAP ($0.175 per share); and

•

A 9% discount to the 15-day VWAP (A$0.165 per share).

The Placement Shares were allotted on 9 October 2020 under the Company’s existing placement capacity pursuant to
ASX Listing Rule 7.1 and 7.1A.
CPS Capital acted as Lead Manager to the Placement. A capital raising fee of 6% (excluding GST) on all funds raised was
paid to the Lead Manager. In addition, following the receipt of shareholder approval, CPS Capital was granted a total of
16,000,000 Corporate Options at $0.25 each with an expiry date of 18 months from the date of issue.
The Company also raised $431,250 (before costs) following the exercise of unlisted options in September 2020 and March
2021.
Extension of Managing Director’s Employment Contract
During the June 2021 Quarter, the Company extended Mr Simon Lawson’s employment contract for an additional period
of 6 months until 1 November 2021 with all other employment terms to remain unchanged.
Coronavirus (COVID-19) Pandemic Update
Firefly is continuing to proactively manage the impacts of the Coronavirus pandemic through the implementation of
measures aimed at ensuring the safety of its personnel and the public.
The measures implemented across the Group are designed to ensure that all relevant activities can continue to allow
Firefly to progress its current exploration and corporate activities with minimal impact to its staff and contractors and at the
lowest possible cost.
To date there has been no significant impact on the Group or its exploration activities.
COMPETENT PERSONS STATEMENT
Information in this report that relates to Exploration Results and Mineral Resources is based on and fairly represents
information and supporting documentation reviewed, collated and compiled by by Mr Simon Lawson, a Member of the
Australasian Institution of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Lawson is the Managing Director of Firefly Resources Limited and a
full-time employee. Mr Lawson has sufficient experience which is relevant to the styles of mineralisation and types of
deposits under consideration and to the activities being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the
2012 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves”. Mr
Lawson consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it
appears.
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
Some statements in this report regarding future events are forward-looking statements. They involve risk and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ from estimated results. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to,
statements concerning the Group’s exploration programme, outlook, target sizes, resource and mineralised material
estimates. They include statements preceded by words such as “potential”, “target”, “scheduled”, “planned”, “estimate”,
“possible”, “future”, “prospective” and similar expressions.
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The Directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Firefly Resources Limited (the Company or
Firefly) and its controlled entities (the Group) for the year ended 30 June 2021 and the auditor’s report thereon:
DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company at any time during or since the year end are:
Mr Michael Edward – age 53
Non-Executive Chairman – Appointed 30 July 2020
Non-Executive Director - Appointed 10 October 2019
Mr Edwards is a geologist and economist with over 20 years’ experience in senior management in both the private and
public sectors. He spent three years with Barclays Australia in their Corporate Finance department and then eight years
as an Exploration and Mine Geologist with companies such as Gold Mines of Australia, Eagle Mining and International
Mineral Resources. Since 2010, Mr Edwards has been consulting as a geologist across a range of commodities,
predominantly in Australia and Africa. In addition, he has worked as a corporate advisor and has been involved in
numerous ASX listings and reverse takeovers across a range of commodities and industries.
Mr Edwards holds a Bachelor of Business majoring in Economics and Finance from Curtin University of Technology and
a Bachelor of Science in Geology from the University of Western Australia.
Mr Edwards is currently the Non-Executive Chairman of Barra Resources Limited (ASX: BAR) and a Non-Executive
Director of Auroch Minerals Limited (ASX: AOU) , DE.mem Limited (ASX: DEM) and Norwood Systems Limited (ASX:
NOR). Mr Edwards was previously a Non-Executive Director of Digital Wine Ventures Ltd (ASX: DW8) and Serpentine
Technologies Limited (ASX: S3R).
Mr Simon Lawson – age 45
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer – Appointed 1 May 2018
Mr Lawson has a Master of Science in Geology from Auckland University and has over 15 years of exploration, production
and management experience in gold and base metals. He has previously held senior geology roles at major Australian
gold producer Northern Star Resources Ltd, where as Principal Geologist, he was part of the team which took the company
from junior explorer to a major multi-mine producer, today valued at over $3 Billion. Mr Lawson did not hold any other
directorships during the year.
Mr Geoffrey Jones – age 59
Non-Executive Director - Appointed 24 February 2006
Non-Executive Chairman – Appointed 24 November 2010, resigned 6 July 2015
Mr Jones is a Fellow of Engineers Australia, with a Bachelor of Engineering (Civil) degree. He has over 30 years’
experience covering the areas of construction, engineering, mineral processing and project development. Mr Jones has
been responsible for the preparation of feasibility studies for gold and base metals projects and has completed numerous
project evaluations and due diligence reviews and has managed the successful development of projects both domestically
and overseas. He spent over six years (1994-2001) with Resolute Limited where, as Group Project Engineer, he was
responsible for the development of its mining projects in Australia, Ghana and Tanzania.
On leaving Resolute Limited, he commenced the operation of his own project management and engineering consultancy,
JMG Projects Pty Ltd, servicing the mining industry. In this capacity, Mr Jones has completed works on gold and base
metal projects for Australian and overseas based mining groups.
Mr Jones is currently Managing Director of GR Engineering Services Limited (ASX: GNG) and a Non-Executive Director
of Ausgold Limited (ASX: AUC).
Mr Ashley Pattison – age 45
Non-Executive Director - Appointed 3 September 2020
Mr Pattison is a Chartered Accountant with over 20 years’ experience in the resource sector across corporate finance,
strategy and project operations. Having lived and worked in several countries, he has gained substantial exposure to
exploration and producing operations in Australia and South America. He has also held senior executive positions
including as Managing Director of a number of listed and private mining companies over the past 10 years and also as
CEO of a listed mining service company.
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More recently, he was the founder of PC Gold Pty Ltd (a private equity vehicle with an advanced open pit gold asset in the
Northern Territory), Aurum Minerals Pty Ltd (acquired by Firefly Resources) and Maroon Gold Pty Ltd (a private equity
vehicle that consolidated a number of gold assets in the Charters Towers region of Queensland and commenced
production in 2019).
Mr Pattison is currently the Executive Chairman of PC Gold Pty Ltd, Managing Director of Tristar Nominees Pty Ltd, a
consulting business to resource companies, and a Non-Executive Director to Macro Metals Ltd, an unlisted iron ore
focused public company.
Mr John Hutton – age 54
Non-Executive Chairman – Appointed 3 November 2017, resigned 30 July 2020
Non-Executive Director - Appointed 15 December 2010, resigned 4 September 2020
Mr Hutton has a background in accounting and finance and is a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
Mr Hutton has over 28 years’ experience in the direction and management of a diverse range of commercial activities,
including as a director of several ASX listed companies over the last 18 years.
He was a non-executive director of Sandfire Resources NL (SFR) during the copper/gold discovery at Degrussa, tenement
holdings vended into SFR by the late Graeme Hutton.
Mr Hutton has spent many years successfully prospecting in Western Australia and is a director of a number of private
entities involved in the resources, pearling and fish farming industries.
JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Mr Steven Wood – appointed 29 September 2020
Mr Wood is an experienced company secretary and Chartered Accountant specialising in corporate advisory, company
secretarial and financial management services, to both ASX and unlisted public and private companies.
A partner at advisory firm Grange Consulting Group Pty Ltd, Steven has been involved as company secretary in a range
of corporate transactions including capital raisings, takeovers and IPO’s.
Ms Natalie Teo – appointed 12 April 2019
Ms Teo graduated with a Masters in Accounting from Curtin University in Western Australia and completed a Graduate
Diploma in Applied Corporate Governance with the Governance Institute of Australia.
Ms Teo is a Chartered Secretary and is currently working with a firm that provides corporate and accounting services to
both listed and unlisted entities.
DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS
The number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of the Board, if applicable) and the number of
meetings attended by each of the Directors of the Company during the financial year are:
Board Meetings
Director
Michael Edwards
Simon Lawson
Geoffrey Jones
Ashley Pattison1
John Hutton2

Held while Director
10
10
10
9
1

Notes in relation to the above table:
1.

Mr Pattison was appointed on 3 September 2020.

2.

Mr Hutton resigned on 4 September 2020.
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10
10
10
9
1
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The relevant interest of each Director in the shares, options and performance rights in the Company at the date of this
report is as follows:
Director

31 December
2021
Options1

Shares

31 December
2022
Options2

Director
Performance
Rights3

Vendor
Performance
Rights4

M Edwards

4,366,667

500,000

500,000

2,066,666

-

S Lawson
G Jones

4,107,141
1,116,459

1,000,000
500,000

1,000,000
500,000

6,666,666
666,666

-

A Pattison

11,527,655

-

-

666,666

2,654,328

Notes in relation to the above table:
1.

Unlisted options exercisable at $0.10 each on or before 31 December 2021.

2.

Unlisted options exercisable at $0.12 each on or before 31 December 2022.

3.

Unvested Director Performance Rights in two separate equal tranches and subject to applicable milestones (refer pages 24 to
26 for further details).

4.

Vendor Performance Rights in three separate tranches of 884,776 that will vest upon the completion of applicable milestones
for the Yalgoo Gold Project. These Performance Rights were issued to the vendors as part consideration for the acquisition of
the Yalgoo Gold Project in July 2020 (refer pages 24 to 26 for further details).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY
The principal activity of the Group during the year was mineral exploration.
OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
Operating review
A review of the operating activities undertaken within the Group during the year is contained in the section entitled Review
of Activities in this Annual Report.
Financial review
The Group incurred a loss of $8,282,288 (2020: loss of $7,106,167) for the year. The loss included the write-off of
$4,345,303 (2020: $5,633,539) in exploration expenditure in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, and
corporate and administrative costs of $4,686,189 (2020: $1,547,127).
During the financial year, the Group successfully raised approximately $8.76 million before costs through a fully
underwritten non-renounceable entitlement issue, share placements to existing and new professional and sophisticated
investors and the exercise of various classes of unlisted options.
As at 30 June 2021, the Group had net assets of $6,881,270 (2020: $1,024,518), comprised principally of cash and cash
equivalents and exploration and evaluation assets.
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
The Group’s exploration activities are subject to various environmental regulations under Commonwealth and State
legislation. The Directors are responsible for the regular monitoring of environmental exposures and compliance with
environmental regulations. The Directors believe that the Group has adequate systems in place for the management of
the requirements under those regulations and are not aware of any breach of such requirements as they apply to the
Group.
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company’s 2021 Corporate
https://www.fireflyresources.com.au/.

Governance

Statement
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
Ordinary fully paid shares issued during the year were as follows:
(a) the issue of 97,833,333 shares at a deemed issue price of $0.03 each pursuant to a binding terms sheet for the
Yalgoo Gold Project;
(b) the issue of 43,333,334 shares at an issue price of $0.03 each pursuant to a share placement, raising $1.3 million
in cash before costs;
(c) the issue of 1,666,667 shares at a deemed issue price of $0.03 each in lieu of director fees to Mr Michael Edwards
following shareholder approval at a general meeting held on 30 July 2020;
(d) the issue of 34,261,344 shares at $0.03 each pursuant to a fully-underwritten non-renounceable entitlement
issue, raising 1.03 million before costs;
(e) the issue of 1,500,000 shares at $0.10 each and 1,250,000 shares at $0.125 each following the exercise of
unlisted options, raising $306,250 before costs;
(f)

the issue of 40,000,000 shares at $0.15 each pursuant to a share placement to new and existing shareholders,
raising $6 million before costs;

(g) the issue of 1,250,000 shares at $0.10 each following the exercise of unlisted options, raising $125,000 before
costs; and
(h) the issue of 6,299,998 shares following the exercise of vested Class 1 Director and Employee Performance
Rights.
Total shares on issue at 30 June 2021 were 307,339,530 (2020: 79,944,854).
Key highlights for the year are outlined in the Review of Operations, set out on pages 4 to 19.
The Group continued to explore for minerals during the year, spending approximately $4 million on exploration activities.
DIVIDENDS
No dividend has been declared or paid by the Company to the date of this report.
EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
Merger with Gascoyne Resources Limited
On 16 June 2021, the Company announced that it had entered into a binding scheme implementation deed with Gascoyne
Resources Limited (Gascoyne) (ASX: GCY), under which the two companies will merge by way of scheme of
arrangement, with Gascoyne to acquire all of the issued shares in Firefly in consideration for the issue of 0.34 fully paid
ordinary shares in Gascoyne for each Firefly share (Scheme).
On 7 September 2021, the Company announced that the Supreme Court of Western Australia has made orders approving
the dispatch of the scheme booklet and ordered the convening of a meeting for Firefly shareholders to consider, and if
thought fit, approve the Scheme. The scheme booklet was registered with ASIC on 8 September 2021 and dispatched to
Firefly shareholders on 10 September 2021.
The scheme booklet includes an Independent Expert’s Report from BDO Corporate Finance (WA) Pty Ltd (Independent
Expert) which concludes that the Scheme is fair and reasonable and hence in the best interest of Firefly shareholders, in
the absence of a superior proposal. The Independent Expert’s Report is annexed to the scheme booklet at Annexure A
and the Notice of Scheme Meeting is annexed to the scheme booklet at Annexure D.
The Scheme Meeting will be held at 2.00pm (WST) on Thursday, 21 October 2021 at BDO Australia, 38 Station Street,
Subiaco, Western Australia.
Refer ASX Announcements dated 16 June 2021, 7 September 2021, 8 September 2021 and 10 September 2021 for
further information.
Demerger of Firetail Resources Limited
In conjunction with the Scheme, the Company and Gascoyne have agreed to the terms of a demerger of various assets,
including the Paterson Copper-Gold Project, the Forrestania Gold Project and lithium mineral rights over various tenements
held by both Firefly and Gascoyne, which are to be acquired by a wholly-owned subsidiary of Firefly, Firetail Resources
Limited (Firetail) (Demerger).
The Demerger will be conducted by way of an equal capital reduction in Firefly and an in-specie distribution of shares in
Firetail to Firefly shareholders as well as the issue of shares in Firetail to Gascoyne.
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Firetail will initially be an unlisted public company with an intention to seek an ASX listing at a later date following
implementation of the Scheme. As part of the Demerger, Firefly will make available up to $1.5 million in cash to Firetail
which will comprise the payment of certain Firetail expenses (including reimbursement of transaction costs and immediate
working capital requirements) with the remainder of such amount to be transferred to Firetail (subject to certain conditions).
The Demerger Meeting will be held immediately after the Scheme Meeting at 2.30pm (WST) on Thursday, 21 October
2021 at BDO Australia, 38 Station Street, Subiaco, Western Australia 6008. The Notice of Demerger Meeting (including
an explanatory statement) is annexed to the scheme booklet at Annexure E.
Refer ASX Announcements dated 8 July 2021, 7 September 2021, 8 September 2021 and 10 September 2021 for further
details of the Demerger.
Exercise of Unlisted Options
On 30 July 2021, the Company issued 1,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of 500,000 unlisted
options with a $0.08 exercise price and 30 September 2022 expiry date and a further 500,000 unlisted options with a $0.11
exercise price and 30 September 2022 expiry date, raising $95,000 before costs.
Completion of sale of the Forrestania Gold Project
On 31 August 2021, the Company announced that Forrestania Resources Limited (Forrestania Resources) exercised
the option to acquire the non-core Forrestania Gold Project (see ASX announcement, 17 March 2021).
On 30 September 2021, the Company announced completion of the sale after receiving $1.25 million worth of shares in
Forrestania Resources plus $50,000 cash, with a further milestone consideration of $500,000 in shares payable on the
definition of a JORC 2012 Resource of at least 250,000oz of gold at over 2g/t Au.
As part of the proposed Demerger, all consideration received by Firefly for the sale of the Forrestania Gold Project will be
transferred or assigned to Firetail in accordance with the demerger agreements executed by Firefly and Gascoyne.
Refer ASX Announcements dated 17 March 2021, 31 August 2021 and 30 September 2021 for further details of the sale.
LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS
The Company will continue to pursue its principal activity of mineral exploration.
The Review of Activities sets out more details about likely developments in the operations of the Group going forward,
including the proposed merger with Gascoyne Resources Limited (Gascoyne) and the proposed demerger of certain
assets and lithium rights of Firefly and wholly-owned subsidiaries of Firefly and Gascoyne into a newly incorporated whollyowned subsidiary of Firefly, Firetail Resources Limited.
SHARE OPTIONS AND PERFORMANCE RIGHTS
Unlisted Options and Performance Rights granted
During or since the end of the financial year, the following options and performance rights were granted:

Class1

Expiry
Date

Exercise
Price

Number
of Options

Number of
Performance
Rights2

Unlisted Corporate Options
Vendor Performance Rights – Class A3
Vendor Performance Rights – Class B4
Vendor Performance Rights – Class C5
Director Performance Rights – Class 16
Director Performance Rights – Class 27
Director Performance Rights – Class 38
Employee Performance Rights – Class 1
Employee Performance Rights – Class 2
Employee Performance Rights – Class 3

4 June 2022
31 July 2025
31 July 2025
31 July 2025
25 November 2023
25 November 2023
25 November 2023
4 December 2023
4 December 2023
4 December 2023

$0.25
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

16,000,000
-

7,666,666
7,666,666
7,666,666
5,033,332
5,033,332
5,033,332
1,266,666
1,266,666
1,266,666

-

Notes in relation to the above table:
1.
2.

The above options and performance rights were issued after the Company’s reconstruction of capital in 2019.
Each option, or performance right, once vested, entitles the holder, on exercise, to the issue of one fully paid share in the capital
of the Company.
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Notes in relation to the above table (continued):
3.

The Vendor Performance Rights were part consideration for the newly-acquired Yalgoo Gold Project and the vesting of each
class is subject to the terms and conditions and the satisfaction of the relevant milestone. Class A will vest upon announcement
of a New Resource (or multiple New Resources in aggregate) of greater than 100,000oz (2.073Mt @ 1.5g/t gold and gold
Equivalent) reported in accordance with JORC 2012 on any one of more of the tenements that form the Yalgoo Gold Project.
New Resource means a resource not including the aggregate 153,000oz in resource estimates in the Company’s ASX
Announcement dated 24 June 2020 and Equivalent has the meaning given in the JORC Code 2012.

4.

Class B will vest upon announcement of a New Resource (or multiple New Resources in aggregate) of greater than 200,000oz
(2.073Mt @ 1.5g/t gold and gold Equivalent) reported in accordance with JORC 2012 on any one of more of the tenements that
form the Yalgoo Gold Project.

5.

Class C will vest upon the Company mining greater than 50kt from below 12m from surface (with a minimum gold grade of
>1.0g/t Equivalent) on any one or more of the tenements that form the Yalgoo Gold Project.

6.

The Director and Employee Performance Rights form part of the Company’s remuneration arrangements and are subject to
various vesting conditions. Class 1 will vest on announcement of a minimum 210,000 ounces of Inferred, Indicated and/or
Measured Resources, at a minimum grade of 0.3g/t gold of gold Equivalent, reported in accordance with JORC 2012 on any
one or more of the tenements that form the Yalgoo Gold Project. Equivalent has the meaning given in the JORC Code 2012.
On 17 March 2021, the Company announced its maiden 197,000oz JORC 2012 Resource at the Yalgoo Gold Project, with
80% of contained ounces in the higher-confidence Indicated Resource category, triggering the vesting of Class 1 Director and
Employee Performance Rights.

7.

Class 2 will vest upon announcement of a minimum 350,000 ounces of Inferred, Indicated and/or Measured Resources, at a
minimum grade of 0.3g/t gold of gold Equivalent, reported in accordance with JORC 2012 on any one or more of the tenements
that form the Yalgoo Gold Project.

8.

Class 3 will vest upon the volume weighted average market price of the Company’s fully paid ordinary shares trading on ASX
over 20 consecutive trading days on which the shares have been traded being at least $0.20.

9.

Each class of performance rights will lapse upon the relevant milestone being incapable of satisfaction on or before the expiry
date.

Unlisted Options
Unissued shares under option
At the date of this report, unissued shares of the Company under option are:
Class

Expiry
Date

Exercise
Price1

Number
of Options

Unlisted Options
Unlisted Advisor Options

31 March 2022
30 September 2022

$0.58
$0.08

399,999
1,750,000

Unlisted Advisor Options
Unlisted Related-Party Options

30 September 2022
31 December 2021

$0.11
$0.10

3,250,000
2,000,000

Unlisted Related-Party Options
Unlisted Employee Options

31 December 2022
31 December 2021

$0.12
$0.10

2,000,000
650,000

Unlisted Employee Options
Unlisted Corporate Options

31 December 2022
4 June 2022

$0.12
$0.23

650,000
16,000,000

Notes in relation to the above table:
1.

The exercise prices for each class of unlisted options were adjusted based on the return of capital amount of $0.0166 per
security following completion of the in-specie distribution of shares in Firebird Metals Limited to Firefly shareholders in March
2021. Refer ASX Announcement dated 4 March 2021 for further information.

These options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other entity.
Options cancelled, expired or lapsed
1,874,996 unlisted options with an exercise price of $1.18 each expired unexercised on 15 April 2021.
200,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.10 each and expiry date of 31 December 2021 and 200,000 unlisted
options with an exercise price of $0.12 each and expiry date of 31 December 2022 lapsed on 23 April 2021.
Shares issued on exercise of options
On 16 September 2020, the Company issued 2,750,000 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of 1,500,000
unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.10 each and expiry date of 30 September 2022 and 1,250,000 unlisted options
with an exercise price of $0.125 each and expiry date of 30 September 2022, raising $306,250 (before costs).
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On 5 March 2021, the Company issued 1,250,000 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of 1,250,000 unlisted
options with an exercise price of $0.10 each and expiry date of 30 September 2022, raising $125,000 (before costs).
Subsequent to year end, the Company issued 1,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of 500,000
unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.08 each and expiry date of 30 September 2022 and a further 500,000 unlisted
options with an exercise price of $0.11 each and expiry date of 30 September 2022, raising $95,000 (before costs).
Performance Rights
Unvested performance rights
At the date of this report, the number of unvested performance rights of the Company on issue are:
Class

Expiry
Date

Exercise
Price

Vendor Performance Rights – Class A
Vendor Performance Rights – Class B
Vendor Performance Rights – Class C
Director Performance Rights – Class 2
Director Performance Rights – Class 3
Employee Performance Rights – Class 2
Employee Performance Rights – Class 3

31 July 2025
31 July 2025
31 July 2025
25 November 2023
25 November 2023
4 December 2023
4 December 2023

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Number of
Performance Rights
7,666,666
7,666,666
7,666,666
5,033,332
5,033,332
583,333
583,333

These rights do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other entity.
Performance rights cancelled, expired or lapsed
1,366,666 employee performance rights with various vesting conditions and an expiry date of 4 December 2023 lapsed
on 23 April 2021.
Shares issued on exercise of vested performance rights
On 23 March 2021, the Company issued 6,299,998 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of vested Class 1
Director and Employee performance rights for nil exercise price.
INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS
The Company has agreed to indemnify the current Directors of the Company against all liabilities to another person (other
than the Company or a related body corporate) that may arise from their position as directors of the Company, except
where the liability arises out of conduct involving a lack of good faith. The agreement stipulates that the Company will meet
the full amount of any such liabilities, including costs and expenses.
The Company paid a premium during the year in respect of director’s and officer’s liability insurance policy, insuring the
Directors of the Company, the company secretary, and all executive officers of the Company against a liability incurred as
such a director, secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors have
not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium paid in respect of the directors’
and officers’ liability and legal expenses’ insurance contracts, as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the
contract.
NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The Group’s auditor, Stantons, did not provide any non-audit services during the year.
Amounts paid to Stantons for audit services provided during the year are set out below:

Audit and review of financial reports
Audit of exploration reports
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2021
$

2020
$

46,310
600

43,325
600

46,910

43,925

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
REMUNERATION REPORT
The remuneration report is set out on pages 28 to 33 and forms part of the Directors’ Report.
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 75 of the financial report.
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for leave to bring proceedings
on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purposes of taking
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.
Dated this 30th day of September 2021 at Perth, Western Australia.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

Michael Edwards
Non-Executive Chairman
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This Remuneration Report, which has been audited, outlines the director and executive remuneration arrangements of the
Company and the Group in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the Corporations
Regulations 2001.
For the purposes of this report, key management personnel of the Company are defined as those persons having authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Company and the Group, directly or
indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Company.
KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
The key management personnel of the Group during the year were:
Director

Position

Mr Michael Edwards

Non-Executive Chairman (appointed 30 July 2020)
Non-Executive Director (appointed 10 October 2019)
Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director (appointed 3 September 2020)
Non-Executive Director (resigned 4 September 2020)

Mr Simon Lawson
Mr Geoffrey Jones
Mr Ashley Pattison
Mr John Hutton

PRINCIPLES OF REMUNERATION
The Directors have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company and the
Group.
Compensation levels for key management personnel of the Group are competitively set to attract and retain appropriately
qualified and experienced directors and executives. The remuneration structures explained below are designed to attract
suitably qualified candidates, reward the achievement of strategic objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of creation
of value for shareholders. The structures take into account the capability and experience of the key management
personnel, as well as the key management personnel’s ability to control the performance of their division.
Compensation packages can include a mix of fixed compensation and equity-based compensation as well as employer
contributions to superannuation funds.
Shares and options may only be issued to Directors subject to approval by shareholders in general meeting.
The Company does not have any scheme relating to retirement benefits for its key management personnel, other than
payment of statutory superannuation contributions.
REMUNERATION STRUCTURE
The structure of non-executive directors’ remuneration is distinguished from that of executives.
Non-Executive director remuneration
The Company’s Constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of non-executive directors
shall be determined from time to time by a general meeting of members. Total remuneration for all non-executive directors,
last voted upon by shareholders at the 2011 Annual General Meeting, is not to exceed $250,000 per annum. Directors’
fees cover all main Board activities and membership of committees. Non-executive directors generally do not receive
performance related compensation, although Directors have previously been granted options following receipt of
shareholder approval. The issue of options as part of director remuneration ensures that director remuneration is
competitive with market standards as well as providing an incentive to pursue longer term success for the Company. It
also reduces the demand on the critical cash resources of the Company, and assists in ensuring the continuity of service
of Directors who have extensive knowledge of the Company, its business activities and assets and the industry in which it
operates. Neither the non-executive directors nor executives of the Company receive any retirement benefits, other than
superannuation.
Non-executive directors’ fees during the year are as follows:
Name

Non-executive directors’ fees
excluding superannuation

M Edwards
G Jones
A Pattison, appointed 3 September 2020
J Hutton, resigned 4 September 2020

$60,000 per annum
$36,000 per annum
$36,000 per annum
$20,000 per annum

28

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
Executive remuneration
Remuneration for executives is set out in employment agreements. Details of the employment agreement with the
Managing Director are provided below. An executive director may receive performance-related compensation but do not
receive any retirement benefits, other than statutory superannuation.
Fixed compensation
Fixed compensation consists of base compensation as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds.
Compensation levels are reviewed annually through a process that considers individual and overall performance of the
Group.
Use of Remuneration Consultants
The Company received survey data sourced from external specialists and received external advice on matters relating to
remuneration from PricewaterhouseCoopers in 2017. During the year, no remuneration recommendations were received
from Remuneration Consultants as defined under the Corporations Act 2001.
Equity-based compensation (long-term incentives)
Equity-based long-term incentives may be provided to key management personnel via the Firefly Resources Limited’s
Employee Incentive Plan (Incentive Plan) (refer to Note 24 to the financial statements) or to Directors with the prior
approval of shareholders. The incentives are provided as options over ordinary shares of the Company and may be
provided to Directors and key management personnel based on their roles within the Company. Such incentives are
considered to promote continuity of employment and provide additional incentive to recipients to increase shareholder
wealth. The incentives are also designed to ensure that remuneration is competitive and in line with market standards.
Vesting conditions may be imposed on any option grants if considered appropriate, and in accordance with the terms and
conditions applicable to the options or Incentive Plan.
Consequences of performance on shareholder wealth
Given the Group’s principal activity during the course of the financial year consisted of mineral exploration, the Company
has given more significance to service criteria instead of market related criteria in setting the Company’s remuneration
levels and incentive schemes. Accordingly, at this stage the Board does not consider the Group’s earnings or earnings
measures to be an appropriate key performance indicator. The issue of options as part of the remuneration package of
Directors and key executives is an established practice for listed exploration companies and has the benefit of conserving
cash whilst appropriately rewarding the recipients. In considering the relationship between the Company’s remuneration
policy and the consequences for the Company’s shareholder wealth, changes in share price are considered.
EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the executives of the Company are formalised in service agreements.
The service agreements specify the components of remuneration, benefits and notice periods. Other major provisions of
the agreement(s) relating to remuneration are set out below.
Termination benefits are within the limits set by the Corporations Act 2001 and do not require shareholder approval. Mr
Simon Lawson has no entitlement to any termination payment in the event of removal for misconduct or in other specified
circumstances.

Name

Simon Lawson (appointed 1 May 2018)

Term of
Agreement

Notice
Period

Base salary/ fees
including
superannuation

Termination
payments*

3 years

6 months

$230,000

6 months

* Base salary payable if the Company terminates employee with notice, and without cause (e.g. for reasons other than
unsatisfactory performance).

During the year, Mr Lawson was granted 9,999,999 unlisted performance rights with nil exercise price, comprised of three
separate classes of 3,333,333 rights per class subject to various vesting conditions. Shareholder approval for the issue of
performance rights to Mr Lawson was obtained on 26 November 2020 at the Company’s Annual General Meeting and the
performance rights were granted for nil issue price on 4 December 2020.
As outlined in the Directors’ Report on page 26, the Company issued 3,333,333 fully paid ordinary shares to Mr Lawson
following the exercise of vested Class 1 performance rights vested in March 2021.
The Company extended Mr Lawson’s employment contract in May 2021 for an additional period of 6 months until 1
November 2021 with all other employment terms to remain unchanged.
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REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each key management person of the Company
for the year are:
Postemployment

Short-term

Salary/
fees
$

Director

M Edwards1
S Lawson2
G Jones3
A Pattison4
J Hutton5
Total key
management
personnel
remuneration

Annual
Leave
$

Nonmonetary
benefits
$

Superannuation
contributions
$

Share-based
payments

Options and
Performance
Rights
$

Total
$

Value of
options or
performance
rights as
proportion of
remuneration
%
67%
59%
70%
18%
60%
52%
67%
0%
44%

2021
2020
2021
2020
2021
2020
2021
2021
2020

102,167
15,000
260,046
210,046
37,000
18,333
30,618
11,667
27,500

11,578
11,310
-

5,908
5,154
5,908
7,098
5,908
7,098
4,872
1,068
7,098

24,704
19,954
3,515
1,267
1,108
1,900

218,982
28,747
706,393
53,168
70,639
28,747
70,639
28,747

327,057
48,901
1,008,629
301,576
117,062
55,445
106,129
13,843
65,245

2021

441,498

11,578

23,664

29,327

1,066,653

1,572,720

2020

270,879

11,310

26,448

23,121

139,409

471,167

Notes in relation to the above table:
1.

Mr Edwards’ Chairman fees increased from $30,000 per annum to $60,000 per annum effective from 1 October 2020. Mr
Edwards received $50,000 in shares in lieu of Director fees following shareholder approval at a general meeting held on 30
July 2020.

2.

Mr Lawson received an annual bonus of $50,000 in May 2021.

3.

Mr Jones’ Director fees increased from $20,000 per annum to $36,000 per annum effective from 1 October 2020. Accrued fees
for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 were paid in July 2021.

4.

Mr Pattison was appointed on 3 September 2020.

5.

Mr Hutton resigned on 4 September 2020.

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL EQUITY HOLDINGS
Fully Paid Ordinary Shares
The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary fully paid shares in the Company held, directly,
indirectly or beneficially by each key management person, is as follows:
Held at
1 July 2020

2021
M Edwards
S Lawson
G Jones
A Pattison1
J Hutton2

541,666
397,499
2,709,178

Held at date of
appointment
N/A
N/A
N/A
11,194,322
N/A

Purchases/
(Sales)

Other
Movements3

Held at date of
resignation

232,142
385,627
1,649,876

4,366,6674
3,333,333
333,333
333,333
-

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
4,359,054

Held at
30 June 2021
4,366,667
4,107,141
1,116,459
11,527,655
N/A

Notes in relation to the above table:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Mr Pattison was appointed on 3 September 2020.
Mr Hutton resigned on 4 September 2020.
Issue of 5,033,332 shares following the exercise of vested Class 1 Director Performance Rights on 23 March 2021.
Includes the issue of 1,666,667 shares on 4 August 2020 in lieu of Director fees and the issue of 1,666,667 placement shares
on 4 August 2020 at an issue price of $0.03 per share following shareholder approval at a general meeting held on 30 July
2020.
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Held at
1 July 20191

2020
M Edwards2
S Lawson
G Jones
J Hutton3

Held at date of Purchases/
appointment
(Sales)

16,250,000
11,925,010
58,547,144

N/A
N/A
N/A

16,250,000
11,925,010
104,003,713

Capital
Held at date of
reconstruction4
resignation
(31,958,334)
(23,452,521)
(159,841,679)

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Held at
30 June 2020
541,666
397,499
2,709,178

Notes in relation to the above table:
1.

The number of shares held by each key management person at 1 July 2019 is shown on a pre-consolidation basis.

2.
3.
4.

Mr Edwards was appointed on 10 October 2019.
Mr Hutton resigned on 4 September 2020.
On 23 August 2019, shareholders approved the consolidation of the Company’s shares through the conversion of every sixty
(60) shares into one (1) share.

Options over Ordinary Shares
The movement during the reporting period in the number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held, directly,
indirectly or beneficially by each key management person, is as follows:
Held at
Held at date of
1 July 2020 appointment

2021
M Edwards
S Lawson
G Jones
A Pattison1
J Hutton2

1,000,000
2,833,333
1,166,666
1,250,000

N/A
N/A
N/A
Nil
N/A

2020

Held at
Capital
1 July 2019 reconstruction4

M Edwards3
S Lawson
G Jones
J Hutton

50,000,000
17,500,000
20,000,000

(49,166,667)
(17,208,334)
(19,666,667)

Granted
as
compensation

Held at date
of
resignation
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
1,250,000

Held at
30 June
2021
1,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
N/A

Vested and
exercisable at
30 June 2021
1,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
N/A

Granted
Exercise or Held at date
as
Expiry of
of
compensation
Options
resignation
1,000,000
N/A
2,000,000
N/A
1,000,000 (125,000)
N/A
1,000,000
(83,333)
N/A

Held at
30 June
2020
1,000,000
2,833,333
1,166,666
1,250,000

Vested and
exercisable at
30 June 2020
1,000,000
2,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000

-

Exercise or
Expiry of
Options
(833,333)
(166,666)
-

Notes in relation to the above tables:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Mr Pattison was appointed on 3 September 2020.
Mr Hutton resigned on 4 September 2020.
Mr Edward was appointed on 10 October 2019.
On 23 August 2019, shareholders approved the consolidation of the Company’s shares and options through the conversion of
every sixty (60) shares/ options into one (1) share/ option.

Performance Rights
The movement during the reporting period in the number of performance rights held, directly, indirectly or beneficially by
each key management person, is as follows:

2021
M Edwards
S Lawson
G Jones
A Pattison1
J Hutton2

Held at
Held at date of
1 July 2020 appointment
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

N/A
N/A
N/A
2,654,328
N/A

Granted
as
compensation3

Exercise or
Expiry of
Rights

Held at date
of
resignation

3,099,999
9,999,999
999,999
999,999
-

(1,033,333)
(3,333,333)
(333,333)
(333,333)
-

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
Nil
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Held at
30 June
2021
2,066,666
6,666,666
666,666
3,320,994
N/A

Vested and
exercisable
at 30 June
2021
N/A
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Notes in relation to the table:
1.
2.
3.

Mr Pattison was appointed on 3 September 2020.
Mr Hutton resigned on 4 September 2020.
Director Performance Rights granted on 4 December 2020 following shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting held
on 26 November 2020.

SHARE BASED COMPENSATION
Unlisted Options
Options granted as compensation
No options that were granted to key management personnel as part of their remuneration in previous years were exercised
during the year.
999,999 options that were granted to key management personnel as part of their remuneration in 2018 expired on 15 April
2021.
Analysis of options granted as compensation
Details of vesting profiles of the options granted as remuneration to each key management person of the Company in
previous years are detailed below:
Options granted
Number
Date

Name

%
%
% not vested
vested lapsed
at
Financial year in
in year in year 30 June 2021 which grant vested

Expiry
date

M Edwards
M Edwards
S Lawson

500,000
500,000
1,000,000

17 December 2019 31 December 2021
17 December 2019 31 December 2022
17 December 2019 31 December 2021

100%
100%
100%

0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%

2019/20
2019/20
2019/20

S Lawson
G Jones

1,000,000
500,000

17 December 2019 31 December 2022
17 December 2019 31 December 2021

100%
100%

0%
0%

0%
0%

2019/20
2019/20

G Jones
J Hutton1

500,000
500,000

17 December 2019 31 December 2022
17 December 2019 31 December 2021

100%
100%

0%
0%

0%
0%

2019/20
2019/20

J Hutton1

500,000

17 December 2019 31 December 2022

100%

0%

0%

2019/20

The terms and conditions of options affecting remuneration in the current or future reporting years are as follows:

2021

Grant Date Expiry Date

M Edwards
M Edwards
S Lawson
S Lawson
G Jones
G Jones
A Pattison2
J Hutton1
J Hutton1

17/12/2019
17/12/2019
17/12/2019
17/12/2019
17/12/2019
17/12/2019
17/12/2019
17/12/2019

31/12/2021
31/12/2022
31/12/2021
31/12/2022
31/12/2021
31/12/2022
31/12/2021
31/12/2022

Number
500,000
500,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
500,000
500,000
500,000
500,000

Exercise
Price

Value at
Grant
Date3

Number
Vested

%
Vested

$0.10
$0.12
$0.10
$0.12
$0.10
$0.12
$0.10
$0.12

$12,952
$15,795
$23,818
$29,349
$12,952
$15,795
$12,952
$15,795

500,000
500,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
500,000
500,000
500,000
500,000

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Value
vested in
previous
year4

Value
yet to
vest

$12,952
$15,795
$23,818
$29,349
$12,952
$15,795
$12,952
$15,795

Notes in relation to the above tables:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Mr Hutton resigned on 4 September 2020.
Mr Pattison was appointed on 3 September 2020 and did not receive any options granted as compensation in the previous
year.
The value at grant date was calculated in accordance with AASB 2 Share Based Payments.
All classes of options vested in the financial year ended 30 June 2020.

Additional details on the options granted as compensation in previous years are provided in Note 24.

32

-

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
Unlisted Performance Rights
Performance rights granted as compensation
A total of 5,033,332 Class 1 Director Performance Rights vested and were exercised during the year for nil consideration.
Analysis of performance rights granted as compensation
Details of vesting profiles of the performance rights granted as remuneration to each key management person of the
Company during the year are detailed below:
Performance Rights
granted
Number
Date

Name

%
%
% not vested
vested lapsed
at
Financial year in
in year in year 30 June 2021 which grant vested

Expiry
date

M Edwards
M Edwards

1,033,333
1,033,333

4 December 2020 25 November 2023
4 December 2020 25 November 2023

100%
0%

0%
0%

0%
100%

2021
N/A

M Edwards
S Lawson

1,033,333
3,333,333

4 December 2020 25 November 2023
4 December 2020 25 November 2023

0%
100%

0%
0%

100%
0%

N/A
2021

S Lawson
S Lawson

3,333,333
3,333,333

4 December 2020 25 November 2023
4 December 2020 25 November 2023

0%
0%

0%
0%

100%
100%

N/A
N/A

G Jones
G Jones

333,333
333,333

4 December 2020 25 November 2023
4 December 2020 25 November 2023

100%
0%

0%
0%

0%
100%

2021
N/A

G Jones
A Pattison
A Pattison

333,333
333,333
333,333

4 December 2020 25 November 2023
4 December 2020 25 November 2023
4 December 2020 25 November 2023

0%
100%
0%

0%
0%
0%

100%
0%
100%

N/A
2021
N/A

A Pattison

333,333

4 December 2020 25 November 2023

0%

0%

100%

N/A

The terms and conditions of performance rights affecting remuneration in the current or future reporting years are as
follows:

2021
M Edwards
S Lawson
G Jones
A Pattison

Grant Date

Expiry Date

04/12/2020
04/12/2020
04/12/2020
04/12/2020

25/11/2023
25/11/2023
25/11/2023
25/11/2023

Number
3,099,999
9,999,999
999,999
999,999

Exercise
Price
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Value at
Grant
Date1

Number
Vested

%
Vested

Value
vested in
current year

$395,250
$1,275,000
$127,500
$127,500

1,033,333
3,333,333
333,333
333,333

33%
33%
33%
33%

$218,982
$709,393
$70,639
$70,639

Value
yet to
vest
$176,268
$568,607
$58,861
$58,861

Notes in relation to the above tables:
1.

The value at grant date was calculated in accordance with AASB 2 Share Based Payments.

Additional details on the performance rights granted as compensation in previous years are provided in Note 24.
Modification of terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions
The exercise prices of each class of unlisted options were adjusted based on the return of capital amount of $0.0166 per
security following completion of the in-specie distribution of shares in Firebird Metals Limited to Firefly shareholders in
March 2021.
Apart from the above, no terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions (including performance rights granted
as compensation to a key management person) have been altered or modified by the issuing entity during the year.

THIS CONCLUDES THE REMUNERATION REPORT, WHICH HAS BEEN AUDITED.
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F O R T H E Y E A R E N D E D 3 0 J U N E 20 2 1

Note

2021
$

2020
$

Income

4

749,204

74,499

Exploration and evaluation expenses written off

13

(4,345,303)

(5,633,539)

Corporate and administrative expenses

5

(4,686,189)

(1,547,127)

(8,282,288)

(7,106,167)

-

-

(8,282,288)

(7,106,167)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

-

-

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

-

-

Other comprehensive income for the year

-

-

Total comprehensive loss for the year

(8,282,288)

(7,106,167)

Net loss attributable to the members of parent entity

(8,282,288)

(7,106,167)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to the members of
parent entity

(8,282,288)

(7,106,167)

(3.08)

(9.63)

Loss before income tax
Income tax

7

Net loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

Basic loss per share
Ordinary shares (cents)

22

Diluted loss per share is not shown as all potential fully paid ordinary shares on issue would decrease the loss per share
and are thus not considered dilutive.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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Note

30 June
2021

30 June
2020

$

$

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments

8
10
11

3,966,804
105,763
93,893

929,513
23,179
38,517

4,166,460

991,209

11,250
80,856
170,581
3,434,106
38,459

11,250
76,489
51,518
95,000
76,099

Total Non-Current Assets

3,735,252

310,356

TOTAL ASSETS

7,901,712

1,301,565

949,975
30,666
32,226

185,829
13,632
73,498

1,012,867

272,959

7,575

4,088

7,575

4,088

TOTAL LIABILITIES

1,020,442

277,047

NET ASSETS

6,881,270

1,024,518

52,189,500
5,755,569
(51,063,799)

40,945,737
2,860,292
(42,781,511)

6,881,270

1,024,518

Total Current Assets
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Other assets
Trade and other receivables
Property, plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Right-of-use assets

9
10
12
13
16

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Lease liabilities

14
15
16

Total Current Liabilities
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities

16

Total Non-Current Liabilities

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

17
18
19

TOTAL EQUITY

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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30 June 2021

Issued
Capital
$

Reserves
$

Accumulated
Losses
$

Balance as at 1 July 2020

40,945,737

2,860,292

(42,781,511)

1,024,518

Net loss for the year

-

-

(8,282,288)

(8,282,288)

Other comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive loss for the year

-

-

(8,282,288)

(8,282,288)

11,243,763

-

-

11,243,763

-

2,895,277

-

2,895,277

52,189,500

5,755,569

(51,063,799)

6,881,270

Issue of share capital, net of costs
Share based payments
Balance as at 30 June 2021

Total
Equity
$

30 June 2020

Issued
Capital
$

Reserves
$

Accumulated
Losses
$

Balance as at 1 July 2019

38,416,267

2,286,079

(35,675,344)

5,027,002

Net loss for the year

-

-

(7,106,167)

(7,106,167)

Other comprehensive income

-

-

-

-

Total comprehensive loss for the year

-

-

(7,106,167)

(7,106,167)

2,529,470

-

-

2,529,470

-

574,213

-

574,213

40,945,737

2,860,292

(42,781,511)

1,024,518

Issue of share capital, net of costs
Share based payments
Balance as at 30 June 2020

Total
Equity
$

The consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note

2021
$

2020
$

Cash flows from operating activities
Government grants received
Cash payments in the course of operations
Interest received
Other income and refund of security deposits

66,712
(5,214,677)
2,001
692,843

33,288
(1,844,138)
2,511
2,523

(4,453,121)

(1,805,816)

Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Payments for exploration and evaluation assets
Payments for property, plant and equipment

(501,933)
(167,377)

57,750
(13,032)

Net cash (used in)/ provided by investing activities

(669,310)

44,718

(99,201)
8,258,923
-

(77,903)
2,229,470
300,000

Net cash provided by financing activities

8,159,722

2,451,567

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

3,037,291

690,469

929,513

239,044

3,966,804

929,513

Net cash (used in) operating activities

27

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of lease liabilities
Net proceeds from issue of share capital and conversion of options
Net proceeds from issue of convertible notes

17
17

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

8

The consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1.

REPORTING ENTITY
Firefly Resources Limited (formerly Marindi Metals Limited) (the Company or Firefly) is a company domiciled in
Australia. The consolidated financial report for the year ended 30 June 2021 covers the consolidated group of Firefly
and its controlled entities (the Consolidated Entity or the Group).
A description of the nature of the Group’s operations and its principal activities are included in the Directors’ Report,
which is not part of the financial statements.
The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of Directors, on 30 September
2021. The Board of Directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.
The following is a summary of the material accounting policies adopted by the Group in the preparation of the
financial statements. The accounting policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

2.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The consolidated financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with
Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated financial report of the Group also
complies with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations adopted by the
International Accounting Standards Board.
Basis of measurement
The financial report is prepared on the accruals basis and the historical cost basis.
Use of estimates and judgements
The Directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based on historical
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and
are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group.
In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are
outlined below:
•

Exploration expenditure: the write-off and carrying forward of exploration acquisition costs is based on an
assessment of an area of interest’s viability and/or the existence of economically recoverable reserves.

•

Estimation of useful lives of assets: The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on
historical experience. The condition of the assets is assessed at least once per year and considered
against the remaining useful life. Depreciation charges are included in Note 12 Property, Plant and
Equipment.

•

Deferred taxation: Deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses have not been brought forward as it is not
considered probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they could be utilised.

•

Share based payment transactions: The cost of equity-settled transactions with Directors, employees or
consultants are measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined through an option valuation model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the instruments were granted – refer Note 24 Share Based Payments.

•

Asset acquisition: In determining when an acquisition is classified as an asset acquisition and not a
business, significant judgement is required to assess whether the assets acquired constitute a business
in accordance with AASB 3 Business Combinations. Management determined that the acquisition of the
Yalgoo Gold Project through acquiring 100% of the issued capital of Aurum Minerals Pty Ltd and its
subsidiaries was an asset acquisition. Refer Note 25 Asset Acquisition for further details.

Going concern basis of preparation
The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal
business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.
Based upon the Group’s existing cash resources, the Directors consider there are reasonable grounds to believe
that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern after consideration of the following factors:
•

The Group has cash reserves of $3,966,804 at 30 June 2021;

•

The Group has no loans or borrowings;
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2.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
Going concern basis of preparation (cont.)
•

The Group has the ability to adjust its expenditure outlays subject to results of its exploration activities and
the Group’s funding position; and

•

The Directors regularly monitor the Group’s cash position and on an on-going basis consider a number of
strategic and operational plans to ensure that adequate funding continues to be available for the Group to
meet its business objectives.

The Directors believe that the above indicators demonstrate that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when
they fall due and continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Directors believe it is appropriate to adopt the going
concern basis for the preparation of the Group’s 2021 annual financial report.
In addition to the above, the Company entered into a binding scheme implementation deed on 16 June 2021 with
Gascoyne Resources Limited (ASX: GCY) (Gascoyne) under which Gascoyne will acquire all of the issued shares
in Firefly in consideration for the issue of 0.34 fully paid ordinary shares in Gascoyne for each Firefly share by way
of scheme of arrangement (Scheme).
The Company will hold a general meeting on 21 October 2021 at 2.00pm (WST) at BDO Australia, 38 Station Street,
Subiaco, Western Australia 6008 for shareholders to consider and vote on the Scheme (Scheme Meeting).
In conjunction with the Scheme, the Company and Gascoyne also seek to undertake a demerger of certain coppergold and lithium assets in accordance with a demerger implementation deed executed on or around 8 July 2021
(Demerger). These assets will be transferred to a newly incorporated entity, Firetail Resources Limited (Firetail),
by way of a capital reduction and in-specie distribution of 1 fully paid ordinary share in Firetail for approximately
11.91 Firefly shares.
The Company will also hold a general meeting of shareholders to consider, and if thought fit, approve the capital
reduction and in-specie distribution (Demerger Meeting), immediately after the Scheme Meeting at 2.30pm on 21
October 2021 at BDO Australia, 38 Station Street, Subiaco, Western Australia 6008.
All registered shareholders as at 4.00pm (WST) on 19 October 2021 will be entitled to attend and vote at the
Scheme Meeting and Demerger Meeting. If the requisite majorities of shareholders approve the Scheme at the
Scheme Meeting and all other conditions precedent to the Scheme except for the approval of the Supreme Court
of Western Australia (Court) are satisfied of waived, the Company will apply to the Court for orders approving the
Scheme.
In the event that the Group does not achieve the above actions, there exists material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt as to whether the Group will be able to continue as going concern and realise its assets and
extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business.
Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated
financial statements and have been applied consistently by all entities in the Group unless otherwise stated.
Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the parent (Firefly) and
all of the subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities the parent controls. The parent controls an entity when it is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. A list of the subsidiaries is provided in Note 23.
The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the financial statements of the Group
from the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary is discontinued from the
date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on transactions
between Group entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
and adjustments made where necessary to ensure uniformity of the accounting policies adopted by the Group.
Equity interests in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Group are presented as “non-controlling
interests". The Group initially recognises non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests in
subsidiaries and are entitled to a proportionate share of the subsidiary's net assets on liquidation at either fair value
or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the subsidiary's net assets. Subsequent to initial
recognition, non-controlling interests are attributed their share of profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income. Non-controlling interests are shown separately within the equity section of the statement
of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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2.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
Operating revenue
Revenue is recognised when a performance obligation in the contract with a customer is satisfied or when control
of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to a customer.
Interest Income and Other Income
Interest Income is recognised as the interest accrues. Other income that relates to reimbursement of exploration
expenditure is recognised upon receipt. Government grants and tax incentives, such as the ATO’s Cash Flow Boost,
are recognised upon receipt.
Loss per share
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to members of the parent entity for the
reporting period by the weighted average number of ordinary shares of the Company.
Inventory
Current inventory comprises gold bullion nuggets, which are physically measured or estimated and valued at the
lower of cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated future selling price of the inventory the
Group expects to realise when the inventory is sold, less estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Costs of
purchased inventory are direct purchase costs. A review is undertaken at the end of each accounting period to
determine the extent of any provision for the purchased inventory.
Trade and other accounts payable
Trade and other accounts payable represent the principal amounts outstanding at balance date, plus, where
applicable, any accrued interest.
Recoverable amount of non-current assets
The carrying amounts of non-current assets are reviewed annually to ensure they are not in excess of the
recoverable amounts from those assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of the expected net
cash flows, which will be received from the assets employed and subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows
have been or will be discounted to present values in determining recoverable amounts.
Acquisition of assets
Assets acquired are recognised at cost. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given up, shares issued
or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition plus incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition. When
equity instruments are issued as consideration in a business combination, their market price at the date of
acquisition is used as fair value. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly
in equity. Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable are recorded at their
present value, discounted at the rate applicable to the Group if a similar borrowing were obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and conditions.
Costs incurred on assets subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that future economic
benefits in excess of the original performance of the asset will flow to the Group in future years. Costs that do not
meet the criteria for capitalisation are expended as incurred.
Property, plant and equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value, less where applicable, any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. The carrying amount of the plant and equipment is reviewed annually by the
Directors to ensure it is not in excess of the recoverable amount of these assets. The recoverable amount is
assessed on the basis of the expected net cash flows that will be received from the assets employed and their
subsequent disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present value in determining
recoverable amounts.
Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an
item of property, plant and equipment.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Office furniture and equipment
Plant and equipment
Motor vehicles

3 to 5 years
5 years
5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date.
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2.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation costs are written off in the year they are incurred apart from acquisition costs which are
carried forward where right of tenure of the area of interest is current and they are expected to be recouped through
sale or successful development and exploitation of the area of interest or, where exploration and evaluation activities
in the area of interest have not reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of
economically recoverable reserves. Where an area of interest is abandoned or the Directors decide that it is not
commercial, any accumulated acquisition costs in respect of that area are written off in the financial period the
decision is made.
Each area of interest is also reviewed at the end of each accounting period and accumulated costs written off to the
extent that they will not be recoverable in the future.
Amortisation is not charged on costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest in the development phase until
production.
Issued capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options, or for the
acquisition of a business, are included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.
Employee benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the
reporting date. These benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave, and long service leave.
Liabilities arising in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee benefits expected to be
settled within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration
rates which are expected to be paid when the liability is settled. All other employee benefit liabilities are measured
at the present value of the estimated future cash outflow to be made in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. In determining the present value of future cash outflows, the market yield as at the reporting
date on national government bonds, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability,
are used.
Share based payments
The Group provides benefits to employees (including Directors) and consultants of the Group in the form of share
based payment transactions, whereby services are rendered in exchange for shares or rights over shares ( known
as “equity-settled transactions”). The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees and consultants is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an
internal valuation using Black-Scholes or Binomial option pricing models.
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the
period in which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant recipients become
fully entitled to the award (meaning “vesting date”). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and (ii) the number of awards that, in the opinion of the Directors of the Group, will ultimately vest. This opinion is
formed based on the best available information at balance date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market
performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at
grant date.
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional
upon a market condition. Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of
cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award
is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original award.
Income tax
The charge for current income tax expense is based on the profit for the year adjusted for any non – assessable or
disallowed items. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or are substantially enacted as at balance
date. Deferred tax is accounted for using the statement of financial position liability method in respect of temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements.
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2.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
Income tax (cont.)
No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business
combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxation profit or loss. Deferred income tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the future tax profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences will be utilised. The amount of the benefits brought to account or which may be realised in
the future is based on the assumption that no adverse change will occur in the income taxation legislation and the
anticipation that the economic unit will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefits to be
realised and comply with the conditions of deductibility imposed by law.
Firefly Resources Limited and its subsidiaries have unused tax losses. However, no deferred tax balances have
been recognised, as it is considered that asset recognition criteria have not been met at this time.
Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where
the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO). In these circumstances the
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from,
or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the statement of financial position. Cash flows
are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO, are classified as operating
cash flows.
Financial Instruments
Recognition, initial measurement and recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument. Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are measured initially at
fair value adjusted by transactions costs, except for those carried “at fair value through profit or loss”, in which case
transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss. Where available, quoted prices in an active market are used to
determine the fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. Subsequent measurement of
financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.
Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the receivables do not contain a significant
financing component in accordance with AASB 15.
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or
when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised
when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.
Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial assets
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the
transaction price in accordance with AASB 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for
transaction costs (where applicable).
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and effective as hedging
instruments, are classified into the following categories upon initial recognition:
•
•
•

amortised cost;
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and
fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

Classifications are determined by both:
•
•

The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets; and
The entities’ business model for managing the financial asset.
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2.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
Financial assets (cont.)
Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated
as FVPL):
•
•

they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its
contractual cash flows; and
the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is
omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and most other
receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
The Group measures debt instruments at FVOCI if both of the following conditions are met:
•
•

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding; and
The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual
cash flows and selling the financial asset.

For debt instruments at FVOCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or reversals
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured
at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI.
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments
designated at FVOCI when they meet the definition of equity under AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation
and are not held for trading.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be
measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate.
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless
the Group designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.
Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for
derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss.
All interest-related charges and, if applicable, gains and losses arising on changes in fair value are recognised in
profit or loss.
Impairment
From 1 July 2018, the Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by AASB 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.
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2.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT.)
Leases
At inception of a contract, the Consolidated Entity assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a lease
present, a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability is recognised by the Consolidated Entity where the
Consolidated Entity is a lessee. However, all contracts that are classified as short-term leases (a lease with
remaining lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an operating expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Initially, the lease liability is measure at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at the
commencement date. The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot
be reliably determined, the Consolidated Entity will use the incremental borrowing rate.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•

fixed lease payments less any lease incentives;
variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;
the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;
lease payments under extension options if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability as mentioned above,
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date as well as any initial direct costs. The subsequent
measurement of right-of-use assets is at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset whichever is the
shortest. Where a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects
that the Consolidated Entity anticipates to exercise a purchase option, the specific asset is depreciated over the
useful life of the underlying asset.
New and revised Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 1 July 2020
None of the new standards and amendments to standards that are mandatory for the financial year beginning 1
July 2020 affected any of the amounts recognised in the current period or any prior period.
Adoption of new or revised accounting standards and interpretations
The Group has considered the implications of new and amended Accounting Standards applicable for annual
reporting periods beginning after 1 July 2020 but determined that their application to the financial statements is
either not relevant or not material.
3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk management is carried out under policies set by the Board of Directors. The Board provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas.
Financial risk management objectives
The Board monitors and manages the financial risk relating to the operations of the Group. The Group’s activities
include exposure to market risk, fair value interest rate risk and price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow
interest rate risk. The overall risk management strategy focuses on the unpredictability of the finance markets and
seeks to minimise the potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. Risk management is
carried out under the direction of the Board.
Significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis
of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial
asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT.)
Market price risk
The Group is involved in the exploration and development of mining tenements for minerals, including gold, lithium,
manganese and base metals. Should the Group successfully progress to a producer, revenues associated with
mineral sales, and the ability to raise funds through equity and debt, will have some dependence upon commodity
prices.
Credit risk
There is a limited amount of credit risk relating to the cash and cash equivalents that the Group holds in deposits.
The Group receives interest on its cash management deposits based on daily balances and at balance date was
exposed to a variable interest rate of 0.05% per annum. The Group’s operating account does not attract interest.
The Group’s cash reserves are only placed with major Australian banks. The Group is not materially exposed to
changes in market interest rates.
The Group does not presently have customers and consequently does not have credit exposure to outstanding
receivables. The Group may in the future be exposed to interest rate risk should it borrow funds for acquisition and
development.
Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for
disclosure purposes. All financial assets and financial liabilities of the Company at balance date are recorded at
amounts approximating their carrying amount.
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their
fair values due to their short-term nature.
Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors. The Board has determined
an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and longterm funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
reserves and continuously monitoring budgeted and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial
assets, expenditure commitments and liabilities.
Cash flow and interest rate risk
The Group’s income and operating cash flows are not materially exposed to changes in market interest rates.
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Consolidated
2021
$
4.

INCOME
Interest income
Government grants received
Profit from sale of fixed assets
Other income

5.

2020
$

2,001
66,712
680,491

2,511
33,288
36,177
2,523

749,204

74,499

19,342
4,968
24,004

18,758
4,969
14,452

48,314

38,179

540,485
2,441
50,817
17,034
173,574
1,291,481

420,488
2,175
39,866
11,500
64,000
41,938

2,075,832

579,967

46,310
600

43,325
600

46,910

43,925

EXPENSES
Included in the corporate and administrative expenses are the following:
(a)

(b)

6.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Office equipment
Plant and equipment
Motor vehicle

Personnel expenses
Wages and salaries costs
Associated on-costs
Superannuation costs
Provision for annual leave
Non-executive directors’ fees (including superannuation)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
Audit services
Stantons
Audit and review of financial reports
Audit of exploration reports

The Group’s auditor, Stantons, did not provide any nonaudit services during the year.
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Consolidated
2021
2020
$
$
7.

INCOME TAX
(a)

Income tax benefit

-

(b)

Numerical reconciliation between tax benefit and pre-tax net
loss
Loss before income tax benefit

(8,282,288)

(7,106,167)

Income tax calculated at 26% (2020: 30%)
Tax effect of:
Cost of equity settled awards
Sundry amounts
Section 40-880 deduction
Exploration acquisition costs written off
Exploration acquisition costs incurred

(2,153,395)

(2,131,850)

752,730
52,670
(227,383)
(24,700)
892,868

172,264
17,138
(61,740)
1,140,803
-

707,210

863,385

-

-

10,522,985

9,815,775

23,937
46,378

15,340
91,708

70,315

107,048

130,503

28,500

3,966,804

929,513

3,966,804

929,513

Future income tax benefit not brought to account
Income tax benefit
(c)

Tax losses
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been
recognised (as recovery is currently not probable)
26% (2020: 30%)

(d)

Unrecognised temporary differences
Temporary differences for which deferred tax assets have not
been recognised at 26% (2020: 30%):
Provisions
Section 40-880 deduction
Unrecognised deferred tax assets relating to the above temporary
differences
Temporary differences for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised:
Capitalised exploration costs

(e)

-

Tax rates
The potential tax benefit at 30 June 2021 in respect of tax losses
not brought into account has been calculated at 26%. The rate of
30% was applied for the year ended 30 June 2020.

8.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances
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Consolidated
2021
2020
$
$
9.

OTHER ASSETS

Gold bullion nuggets, at cost

10.

11,250

11,250

11,250

11,250

105,763

23,179

80,856

76,489

23,765
70,128

27,018
11,499

93,893

38,517

141,554
(114,196)

113,837
(94,854)

27,358

18,983

74,925
(64,196)

73,206
(59,228)

10,729

13,978

169,752
(37,258)

31,811
(13,254)

132,494

18,557

170,581

51,518

18,983
27,717
(19,342)

37,741
(18,758)

27,358

18,983

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Current
Other Receivables
Other Receivables are neither past due nor impaired.
Non-Current
Deposits and bonds

11.

PREPAYMENTS
Prepaid insurance
Other prepayments

12.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Office equipment, at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Plant & equipment, at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Motor vehicles, at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Reconciliation
Office equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of the year
Additions
Depreciation
Carrying amount at end of the year
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Consolidated
2021
2020
$
$
12.

13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT.)
Plant & equipment
Carrying amount at beginning of the year
Additions
Depreciation

13,978
1,719
(4,968)

5,915
13,032
(4,969)

Carrying amount at end of the year

10,729

13,978

Motor vehicles
Carrying amount at beginning of the year
Additions/ Disposals
Depreciation

18,557
137,941
(24,004)

54,582
(21,573)
(14,452)

Carrying amount at end of the year

132,494

18,557

3,434,106

95,000

95,000
4,250,303
501,933

4,738,719
989,820
-

2,932,173
(4,345,303)

(5,633,539)

3,434,106

95,000

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE
Mineral acquisition costs carried forward in respect of areas of interest
(net of amounts written off) (a)
Reconciliation
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year
Expenditure during the year – exploration
Expenditure during the year – acquisitions (cash consideration)
Expenditure during the year – acquisitions (non-cash consideration)
(Note 25)
Expenditure written off
Carrying amount at the end of the year
(a)

14.

The ultimate recoupment of exploration and evaluation expenditure
is dependent upon successful development and commercial
exploitation or alternatively, sale of the respective areas. During the
year, the Group wrote off expenditure totalling $4,390,303 (2020:
$5,633,539), including acquisition costs of $95,000 (2020:
$4,643,718). Refer Note 25 for details of non-cash acquisition costs.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade creditors
Other creditors and accruals
Stamp duty payable for the acquisition of the Yalgoo Gold Project

15.

715,422
84,688
149,865

109,109
76,720
-

949,975

185,829

30,666

13,632

PROVISIONS
Employee entitlements

49

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
F O R T H E Y E A R E N D E D 3 0 J U N E 20 2 1

Consolidated
2021
2020
$
$
16.

LEASES
(a)

Right-of-use asset
Rental property balance at beginning of the year
Additions (i)
Depreciation
Rental property balance at end of the year

76,099
55,541
(93,181)

148,452
(72,353)

38,459

76,099

32,226
7,575

73,498
4,088

39,801

77,586

93,181

72,353

5,875

7,038

99,201

77,903

52,189,500

40,945,737

(i) The Company entered into a 2-year lease for its offices in
Subiaco, Western Australia, during the year. This addition to
right-of-use assets was measured at its carrying value at
commencement date and the incremental borrowing rate
applied to corresponding lease liabilities was 6.5%.
(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

17.

Lease liabilities
Current
Non-current

Amortisation of right-of-use assets
Depreciation expense
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Interest expense from the unwinding of interest per AASB 16:
Leases
Total yearly cash outflow for leases

ISSUED CAPITAL
307,339,530 (30 June 2020: 79,944,854) (post-consolidation) fully paid
ordinary shares (Shares)
(a)

Shares

The following movements in issued capital occurred during the year:
Shares
2021
No.

Balance at beginning of the year
Issue of shares at $0.001 each for cash
pursuant to a share placement

Consolidated
2020
No.

2021
$

2020
$

79,944,854

2,132,371,023

40,945,737

38,416,267

-

116,000,000

-

116,000

Issue of shares at $0.001 each for cash
pursuant to an entitlement offer

-

2,248,371,023

-

2,248,371

Share consolidation on a basis that every 60
shares be consolidated into 1 share

-

(4,421,797,190)

-

-

Issue of shares at $0.06 each in full
satisfaction of convertible notes

-

4,999,998

-

300,000

97,833,333

-

2,935,000

-

43,333,334

-

1,300,000

-

Issue of shares at a deemed issue price of
$0.03 each pursuant to a binding terms sheet
for the acquisition of the Yalgoo Gold Project
Issue of shares at $0.03 each for cash
pursuant to a share placement
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ISSUED CAPITAL (CONT.)
Shares
2021
No.

Consolidated
2020
No.

2021
$

2020
$

Issue of shares at a deemed issue price of
$0.03 each in lieu of director fees to Mr
Michael Edwards

1,666,667

-

50,000

-

Issue of shares at $0.03 each for cash
pursuant to an entitlement offer

34,261,344

-

1,027,840

-

Issue of shares at $0.10 each for cash
following the exercise of unlisted options

1,500,000

-

150,000

-

Issue of shares at $0.125 each for cash
following the exercise of unlisted options

1,250,000

-

156,250

-

40,000,000

-

6,000,000

-

1,250,000

-

125,000

-

6,299,998

-

-

-

-

-

(500,327)

(134,901)

307,339,530

79,944,854

52,189,500

40,945,737

Issue of shares at $0.15 each for cash
pursuant to a share placement
Issue of shares at$0.10 each for cash
following the exercise of unlisted options
Issue of shares for nil consideration following
the exercise of vested Class 1 Director and
Employee Performance Rights
Share issue costs
Balance at end of the year

(b)

Options

Options issued or granted during the year
The following options to subscribe for fully paid ordinary shares were granted during the year:

Class

Expiry
Date

Exercise
Price1

Unlisted Corporate Options

4 June 2022

$0.23

Number
of Options
16,000,000

Unissued shares under option
The following options to subscribe for fully paid ordinary shares were outstanding at the end of the year:

Class

Expiry
Date

Exercise
Price1

Unlisted Options
Unlisted Advisor Options
Unlisted Advisor Options
Unlisted Related-Party Options
Unlisted Related-Party Options
Unlisted Employee Options
Unlisted Employee Options
Unlisted Corporate Options

31 March 2022
30 September 2022
30 September 2022
31 December 2021
31 December 2022
31 December 2021
31 December 2022
4 June 2022

$0.58
$0.08
$0.11
$0.10
$0.12
$0.10
$0.12
$0.23

Number
of Options
399,999
2,250,000
3,750,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
650,000
650,000
16,000,000

Notes in relation to the above table:
1. The exercise prices for each class of unlisted options were adjusted based on the return of capital amount of
$0.0166 per security following completion of the in-specie distribution of shares in Firebird Metals Limited to
Firefly shareholders in March 2021. Refer ASX Announcement dated 4 March 2021 for further information.

These options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other entity.
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ISSUED CAPITAL (CONT.)
Options exercised or lapsed during the year
1,874,996 unlisted options with an exercise price of $1.18 each expired unexercised on 15 April 2021.
200,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.10 each and expiry date of 31 December 2021 and 500,000
unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.12 each and expiry date of 31 December 2022 lapsed on 23 April 2021.
On 16 September 2020, the Company issued 2,750,000 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of
1,500,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.10 each and expiry date of 30 September 2022 and 1,250,000
unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.125 each and expiry date of 30 September 2022, raising $306,250
(before costs).
On 5 March 2021, the Company issued 1,250,000 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of 1,250,000
unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.10 each and expiry date of 30 September 2022, raising $125,000 (before
costs).
(c)

Performance Rights

Performance Rights issued or granted during the year
The following performance rights were granted during the year:
Class

Expiry
Date

Exercise
Price

Vendor Performance Rights – Class A1
Vendor Performance Rights – Class B2
Vendor Performance Rights – Class C3
Director Performance Rights – Class 14
Director Performance Rights – Class 25
Director Performance Rights – Class 36
Employee Performance Rights – Class 14
Employee Performance Rights – Class 25
Employee Performance Rights – Class 36

31 July 2025
31 July 2025
31 July 2025
25 November 2023
25 November 2023
25 November 2023
4 December 2023
4 December 2023
4 December 2023

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Number of
Performance Rights
7,666,666
7,666,666
7,666,666
5,033,332
5,033,332
5,033,332
1,266,666
1,266,666
1,266,666

Unvested Performance Rights
The following performance rights were outstanding at the end of the year:
Class

Expiry
Date

Exercise
Price

Vendor Performance Rights – Class A1
Vendor Performance Rights – Class B2
Vendor Performance Rights – Class C3
Director Performance Rights – Class 25
Director Performance Rights – Class 36
Employee Performance Rights – Class 25
Employee Performance Rights – Class 36

31 July 2025
31 July 2025
31 July 2025
25 November 2023
25 November 2023
4 December 2023
4 December 2023

Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

Number of
Performance Rights
7,666,666
7,666,666
7,666,666
5,033,332
5,033,332
583,333
583,333

Notes in relation to the above tables:
1. The Vendor Performance Rights were part consideration for the Yalgoo Gold Project and the vesting of each class is
subject to the terms and conditions and the satisfaction of the relevant milestone. Class A will vest upon announcement
of a New Resource (or multiple New Resources in aggregate) of greater than 100,000oz (2.073Mt @ 1.5g/t gold and gold
Equivalent) reported in accordance with JORC 2012 on any one of more of the tenements that form the Yalgoo Gold
Project. New Resource means a resource not including the aggregate 153,000oz in resource estimates in the Company’s
ASX Announcement dated 24 June 2020 and Equivalent has the meaning given in the JORC Code 2012.
2. Class B will vest upon announcement of a New Resource (or multiple New Resources in aggregate) of greater than
200,000oz (2.073Mt @ 1.5g/t gold and gold Equivalent) reported in accordance with JORC 2012 on any one of more of
the tenements that form the Yalgoo Gold Project.
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ISSUED CAPITAL (CONT.)
3. Class C will vest upon the Company mining greater than 50kt from below 12m from surface (with a minimum gold grade
of >1.0g/t Equivalent) on any one or more of the tenements that form the Yalgoo Gold Project.
4. The Director and Employee Performance Rights form part of the Company’s remuneration arrangements and are subject
to various vesting conditions. Class 1 will vest on announcement of a minimum 210,000 ounces of Inferred, Indicated
and/or Measured Resources, at a minimum grade of 0.3g/t gold of gold Equivalent, reported in accordance with JORC
2012 on any one or more of the tenements that form the Yalgoo Gold Project. Equivalent has the meaning given in the
JORC Code 2012. On 17 March 2021, the Company announced its maiden 197,000oz JORC 2012 Resource at the
Yalgoo Gold Project, with 80% of contained ounces in the higher-confidence Indicated Resource category, triggering the
vesting of Class 1 Director and Employee Performance Rights.
5. Class 2 will vest upon announcement of a minimum 350,000 ounces of Inferred, Indicated and/or Measured Resources,
at a minimum grade of 0.3g/t gold of gold Equivalent, reported in accordance with JORC 2012 on any one or more of the
tenements that form the Yalgoo Gold Project.
6. Class 3 will vest upon the volume weighted average market price of the Company’s fully paid ordinary shares trading on
ASX over 20 consecutive trading days on which the shares have been traded being at least $0.20.

(d) Convertible Notes
On 16 July 2019, the Company issued convertible notes with a face value of $300,000 on the following principal
terms:
•

Maturity Date

:

4 months from the date of issue

•

Convertibility

:

conversion to fully paid ordinary shares subject to shareholder approval

•

Conversion Price

:

$0.001 per share pre-consolidation/ $0.06 per share post-consolidation

•

Interest

:

nil

•

Security

:

the notes are unsecured

On 6 September 2019, following approval from shareholders at the General Meeting held on 23 August 2019, the
Company issued 4,999,998 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.06 per share (on a post-consolidation basis) in full
satisfaction of the convertible notes.
No convertible notes were issued during the year.
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Consolidated
2021
2020
$
$
18.

RESERVES
Share Option Reserve
Balance at beginning of year
Value of unlisted options expensed during the year
Payments for unlisted options during the year
Value of performance rights expensed during the year

695,281
1,481,199
160
122,437

287,014
408,267
-

Balance at end of year

2,299,077

695,281

The share option reserve comprises the values attributed to options over
ordinary shares or performance rights granted to vendors and
consultants in consideration for the sale of assets or the provision of
services.
Employee Option Reserve
Balance at beginning of year
Value of director or related party options expensed during the year
Value of employee options expensed during the year
Value of director performance rights expensed during the year
Value of employee performance rights expensed during the year

2,165,011
1,066,653
224,828

1,999,065
124,008
41,938
-

Balance at end of year

3,456,492

2,165,011

5,755,569

2,860,292

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the year
Net loss attributable to members of the Company

(42,781,511)
(8,282,288)

(35,675,344)
(7,106,167)

Accumulated losses at the end of the year

(51,063,799)

(42,781,511)

The employee option reserve comprises the values attributed to options
over ordinary shares and performance rights granted to Directors and
employees in consideration for the provision of services
Total reserves
19.

20.

ACCUMULATED LOSSES

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Names and positions of key management personnel in office at any time during the financial year:
Position
Key Management Person
Mr M Edwards
Mr S Lawson
Mr G Jones
Mr A Pattison
Mr J Hutton

Non-Executive Chairman, appointed 30 July 2020
Non-Executive Director, appointed 10 October 2019
Managing Director, Chief Executive Officer
Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director, appointed 3 September 2020
Non-Executive Director, resigned 4 September 2020

Compensation for Key Management Personnel

Consolidated
2021
2020
$
$

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Share based payments

476,740
29,327
1,066,653

308,637
23,121
139,409

Total compensation

1,572,720

471,167
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21.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Exploration commitments
The Group has certain obligations to perform minimum exploration work on mineral leases held. These obligations
may vary over time, depending on the Group’s exploration programme and priorities. These obligations are also
subject to variations by negotiation, joint venturing or relinquishing some of the relevant tenements. As at balance
date, total exploration expenditure commitments of the Group for its Yalgoo, Egerton and Paterson Projects, which
have not been provided for in the financial statements amounted to $1,029,420 (2020: $1,331,375) per annum.
To the extent that expenditure commitments are not met, tenement areas may be reduced, and other
arrangements made in negotiation with the relevant State government departments on renewal of tenements to
defer expenditure commitments or partially exempt the Group.
Remuneration commitments
Commitments for the payment of salaries and other remuneration under
long-term employment contracts in existence at 30 June 2021 but not
recognised as liabilities, are payable as follows:

Not longer than 1 year
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years

Consolidated
2021
2020
$
$
160,030
303,101
50,000
160,030

353,101

Transaction commitments
The Company has entered into a binding scheme implementation deed with Gascoyne Resources Limited (ASX:
GCY) (Gascoyne) under which Gascoyne will acquire all of the issued shares in Firefly in consideration for the
issue of 0.34 fully paid ordinary shares in Gascoyne for each Firefly share (Scheme). As disclosed in the scheme
booklet registered with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission and released on the ASX Markets
Announcements Platform on 8 September 2021, if the Scheme is not implemented, Firefly’s transaction costs of
approximately $1.06 million will be borne by Firefly. Depending on the circumstances for the Scheme not
proceeding, the Company may also be liable to pay Gascoyne a break fee of $500,000 (excluding GST).
Further information about the Scheme and the break fee is set out in the ASX Announcement titled “Scheme Booklet
registered with ASIC” and dated 8 September 2021.
In conjunction with the Scheme, Firefly and Gascoyne are seeking to undertake a demerger of certain assets and
lithium rights of Firefly and wholly-owned subsidiaries of Firefly and Gascoyne into a newly incorporated whollyowned subsidiary of Firefly, Firetail Resources Limited (Firetail), in accordance with executed demerger
agreements (Demerger). As outlined in the Notice of Demerger Meeting annexed to the scheme booklet as
Annexure E, the Company will provide up to $1.5 million in paid expenses or cash to Firetail (including
reimbursement of transaction costs and immediate working capital requirements).
Further information about the Demerger and the funding to Firetail is set out in the Notice of Demerger Meeting,
released together with the scheme booklet on 8 September 2021.
The above transactions are expected to be implemented on or around 10 November 2021, subject to shareholder
approval, satisfaction or waiver of all other conditions precedent to the Scheme and Demerger, and approval of the
Scheme by the Supreme Court of Western Australia.
Other commitments and contingencies
The Group does not have any other contingent liabilities or commitments at balance and reporting dates.
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LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share for the year ended 30 June 2021 was based on the following:
Consolidated
2021
$

Loss attributable to ordinary shareholders
Net loss for the year

(8,282,288)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

2021
Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator
in the calculation of basic earnings per share

268,568,766

2020
$
(7,106,167)
2020
Number

73,781,860

Diluted earnings per share are calculated where potential ordinary shares on issue are dilutive. As the potential
ordinary shares on issue would decrease the loss per share in the current year, they are not considered dilutive,
and not shown. The number of potential ordinary shares is set out in Note 17.
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30 June 2021
$
23.

30 June 2020
$

PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES
Set out below is the supplementary information about the
parent entity for the year ended 30 June 2021.
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

(4,483,171)
-

(5,676,456)
-

Total comprehensive loss for the year

(4,483,171)

(5,676,456)

Total current assets
Total assets

4,131,691
7,819,327

927,946
1,566,189

Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

1,010,364
1,017,939

272,595
276,682

Net assets

6,801,388

1,289,507

52,189,500
5,755,569
(51,143,681)

40,945,737
2,860,292
(42,516,522)

6,801,388

1,289,507

Statement of financial position

Equity
Issued Capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Total equity

Shares in controlled entities (incorporated in Western
Australia)

Class of
Shares

Beneficial
Interest
2021

Beneficial
Interest
2020

Fire Creek Resources Pty Ltd
Firefly Operations Pty Ltd
Firehawk Gold Pty Ltd
Aurum Minerals Pty Ltd
Yalgoo Exploration Pty Ltd
Lightning Bug Resources Pty Ltd
Firetail Resources Limited
Firebird Metals Limited*

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
-

100%
100%
100%
100%

* Deconsolidated during the year following completion of
demerger and in-specie distribution (Note 29)
Contingent liabilities
The parent entity did not have any contingent liabilities at year end (2020: $nil).
Contractual commitments for capital expenditure
The parent entity had no commitments in relation to capital expenditure contracted but not recognised as liabilities
as at reporting date (2020: $nil).
Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the Group, as disclosed in Note 2.
Guarantees entered into by the parent entity
The parent entity did not provide any guarantees in the financial year in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries (2020:
$nil).
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24.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
Set out below is the supplementary information about share based payments for the year ended 30 June 2021.
Total share-based payment expense of $2,895,177 (2020: $574,213) is included in Corporate and Administrative
Expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. $1,291,481 of sharebased payment expense are set out in Note 5 as personnel expenses. Further details of the items included in this
amount are shown below.
Corporate Options (Unlisted)
On 26 November 2020, shareholders approved the grant of 16,000,000 Corporate Options to CPS Capital Group
(or its nominee) (CPS Capital) for the provision of services in relation to a share placement.
CPS Capital acted as lead manager to the $6 million placement in October 2020 and received a capital raising fee
of 6% on all funds raised.
Class of Options

Issue date

Number
of options

Exercise
price

Expiry date
of options

Vesting
conditions

Unlisted Corporate Options

4 December 2020

16,000,000

$0.25

4 June 2022

Vested immediately

The fair value of the options granted to CPS Capital was calculated at the date of approval using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model and the value of the options has been allocated to the present reporting period.
The following table gives the assumptions made in determining the fair value of options on approval date.
Key Inputs

Corporate Options

Fair value per option

$0.0926

Grant date

26 November 2020

Number of options

16,000,000

Expiry date

4 June 2022

Exercise price

$0.25

Price of shares on grant date

$0.17

Estimated volatility

142.33%

Risk-free interest rate

0.09%

Dividend yield

0%

The estimated volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may
not necessarily be the actual outcome.
In March 2021, the exercise price of the Corporate Options was adjusted based on the return of capital amount of
$0.0166 per security following completion of the in-specie distribution of shares in Firebird Metals Limited to Firefly
shareholders, from $0.25 to $0.23.
The movement in the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of options issued to CPS Capital is
as follows:
2021
Number

2021
WAEP

Outstanding at the beginning of the year
Granted during the year
Expired during the year

16,000,000
-

$0.23
-

Outstanding at the end of the year

16,000,000

$0.23

Exercisable at the end of the year

16,000,000

$0.23

The options outstanding at 30 June 2021 have a WAEP of $0.23 (2020: $nil) and a weighted average contractual
life of 11 months.
Total expense recognised as share-based payment costs during the year was $1,481,199 (2020: $nil). Total funds
received from issuance of options during the year was $160 (2020:$nil).
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SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONT.)
Prior Year Options (Unlisted)
Placement Options
On 10 April 2019, the Company granted 24,000,000 Placement Options at $0.01 each on or before 31 March 2022
(pre-consolidation) to Argonaut Capital Limited (Argonaut) for the provision of services in relation to various share
placements. The fair value of options granted to Argonaut was calculated at the date of grant using the BlackScholes option-pricing model and the value of the options was allocated to the prior financial year.
Following shareholder approval at the General Meeting held on 23 August 2019, the 24,000,000 options were
consolidated on a sixty (60) to one (1) basis to 399,999 options. The exercise price was amended to $0.60 in inverse
proportion to that ratio.
In March 2021, the exercise price of the Placement Options was adjusted based on the return of capital amount of
$0.0166 per security following completion of the in-specie distribution of shares in Firebird Metals Limited to Firefly
shareholders, from $0.60 to $0.58.
All 399,999 options remain exercisable at the end of the current financial year. The options outstanding at 30 June
2021 have a weighted average exercise price of $0.58 (2020: $0.60) and a weighted average contractual life of 9
months (2020: 21 months).
Advisor Options
On 23 August 2019, shareholders approved the grant of 10,000,000 Advisor Options on a post-consolidation basis
to Forrest Capital Pty Ltd (and its respective nominees) (Forrest Capital) for the provision of services in relation to
a capital raising. Forrest Capital was the lead manager and underwriter to the entitlement offer completed in August
2019 and the Advisor Options comprised of 5,000,000 options exercisable at $0.10 each and 5,000,000 options
exercisable at $0.125 each on or before 30 September 2022. The fair value of options granted to Argonaut was
calculated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the value of the options was
allocated to the prior financial year.
In March 2021, the exercise prices of the Advisor Options were adjusted based on the return of capital amount of
$0.0166 per security following completion of the in-specie distribution of shares in Firebird Metals Limited to Firefly
shareholders, from $0.10 to $0.08 and from $0.125 to $0.11 respectively.
The Company issued 4,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of Advisor Options during the year,
raising $431,250 before costs.
The movement in the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of the Advisor Options are as follows:
2021
Number
Outstanding at the beginning of the year
Granted during the year
Exercised during the year

2021
WAEP

2020
Number

2020
WAEP

10,000,000
(4,000,000)

$0.1125
-

10,000,000
-

$0.1125
-

Outstanding at the end of the year

6,000,000

$0.0988

10,000,000

$0.1125

Exercisable at the end of the year

6,000,000

$0.0988

10,000,000

$0.1125

All 6,000,000 options remain exercisable at the end of the current financial year. The options outstanding at 30 June
2021 have a WAEP of $0.0988 (2019: $0.1125) and a weighted average contractual life of 15 months (2020: 21
months).
Employee Options
On 29 June 2018, the Company adopted a new Employee Incentive Plan (Incentive Plan) for the purpose of
attracting, motivating and retaining key employees and consultants of the Group, and recognising their expected
efforts and contribution in the long term to the performance and success of the Group, as well as providing an
opportunity to participate in the future growth of the Group and to foster and promote loyalty between the Company
and its employees and consultants. The maximum number of options that can be granted under the Incentive Plan
is determined by the Board in its discretion and in accordance with the Incentive Plan and applicable law. There is
no issue price for any options granted under the Incentive Plan.
Each option is convertible to one ordinary share. The exercise price of the options is determined by the Board on
such terms as the Board considers appropriate determined by reference to the market value of the shares when the
Board resolves to offer the options, subject to any minimum price specified in the Listing Rules of the ASX.
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SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONT.)
Employee Options (cont.)
Options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or on termination of the individual’s employment, unless otherwise
determined by the Board.
There are no voting or dividend rights attaching to the options. There are no voting rights attached to the unissued
ordinary shares. Voting rights will be attached to the unissued ordinary shares when the options have been
exercised.
On 17 December 2019, the Company issued 1,700,000 options under the Incentive Plan to eligible participants.
Shareholder approval for the issue of employee options to a director of the Company under the Incentive Plan was
granted at the Company’s Annual General Meeting held on 29 November 2019.

Class of Options

Issue date

Unlisted Employee Options 17 December 2019
Unlisted Employee Options 17 December 2019

Number
of options

Exercise
price

850,000
850,000

$0.12
$0.14

Expiry date
of options

Vesting
conditions

31 December 2021 Vested immediately
31 December 2022 Vested immediately

The fair value of the options granted to the participants in December 2019 was calculated at the date of grant using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the value of the options have been allocated to the prior financial year.
In March 2021, the exercise prices of the employee options were adjusted based on the return of capital amount of
$0.0166 per security following completion of the in-specie distribution of shares in Firebird Metals Limited to Firefly
shareholders, from $0.12 to $0.10 and from $0.14 to $0.12 respectively.
In April 2021, an earlier series of 624,997 options granted to employees in 2018 expired unexercised.
A further 200,000 employee options with an exercise price of $0.10 and expiry date of 31 December 2021 and
200,000 employee options with an exercise price of $0.12 and expiry date of 31 December 2022 lapsed in the same
month.
The number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of options granted under the Company’s current
Incentive Plan are as follows:
2021
Number
Outstanding at the beginning of the year
Granted during the year
Expired/ lapsed during the year

2021
WAEP

2020
Number

2020
WAEP

2,324,997
(1,024,997)

$0.417
-

691,663
1,700,000
(66,666)

$1.23
$0.13
-

Outstanding at the end of the year

1,300,000

$0.11

2,324,997

$0.417

Exercisable at the end of the year

1,300,000

$0.11

1,824,999

$0.417

All 1,300,000 options remain exercisable at the end of the current financial year. The options outstanding at 30 June
2021 have a WAEP of $0.11 (2020: $0.417) and a weighted average contractual life of 12 months (2020: 19.97
months).
Related Party Options
On 29 November 2019, shareholders approved the grant of the following options to Directors of the Company.

Class of Options

Grant date

Number
of options

Exercise
price

Expiry date
of options

Vesting
conditions

Related Party Options

29 November 2019

2,000,000

$0.12

31 December 2021 Vested immediately

Related Party Options

29 November 2019

2,000,000

$0.14

31 December 2022 Vested immediately

The fair value of options granted to Directors was calculated at the date of the shareholder approval using the BlackScholes option-pricing model and the value of the options have been allocated to the prior financial year.
In March 2021, the exercise prices of the Related Party Options were adjusted based on the return of capital amount
of $0.0166 per security following completion of the in-specie distribution of shares in Firebird Metals Limited to Firefly
shareholders, from $0.12 to $0.10 and from $0.14 to $0.12 respectively.
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SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONT.)
Related Party Options (cont.)
In April 2021, an earlier series of 1,249,999 options granted to Directors of the Company with an exercise price of
$1.18 and expiry date of 15 April 2021 expired unexercised.
The number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of options granted to Directors of the Company are as
follows:
2021
Number
Outstanding at the beginning of the year
Granted during the year
Expired during the year

2021
WAEP

2020
Number

2020
WAEP

5,249,999
(1,249,999)

$0.385
-

2,249,998
4,000,000
(999,999)

$1.332
$0.13
-

Outstanding at the end of the year

4,000,000

$0.11

5,249,999

$0.385

Exercisable at the end of the year

4,000,000

$0.11

4,383,333

$0.385

All 4,000,000 options remain exercisable at the end of the current financial year. The options outstanding at 30 June
2021 have a WAEP of $0.11 (2020: $0.385) and a weighted average contractual life of 12 months (2020: 20.52
months).
Vendor Performance Rights (Unlisted)
On 30 July 2020, shareholders approved the grant of the following performance rights to vendors of the Yalgoo Gold
Project:
•
•
•

7,666,666 Class A Performance Rights;
7,666,666 Class B Performance Rights; and
7,666,666 Class C Performance Rights.

The above performance rights are subject to various vesting conditions and formed part of the consideration for the
Yalgoo Gold Project. Refer Notes 17 and 25 for further details.
The above performance rights remain unvested at the end of the current financial year. Total expense recognised
as share-based payments during the year was $122,437 (2020: $nil).
Director Performance Rights (Unlisted)
On 26 November 2020, shareholders approved the grant of the following performance rights to Directors of the
Company:
•
•
•

5,033,332 Class 1 Performance Rights;
5,033,332 Class 2 Performance Rights; and
5,033,332 Class 3 Performance Rights.

The above performance rights are subject to various vesting conditions and formed part of the Company’s
remuneration arrangements. Refer Note 17 for further details.
On 23 March 2021, the Company issued 5,033,332 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of vested Class
1 Director Performance Rights.
The remaining Class 2 and Class 3 Director Performance Rights remain unvested at the end of the current financial
year. Total expense recognised as share-based payments during the year was $1,066,653 (2020: $nil).
Employee Performance Rights (Unlisted)
On 4 December 2020, the Company granted the following performance rights to eligible participants under the
Company’s Incentive Plan:
•
•
•

1,266,666 Class 1 Performance Rights;
1,266,666 Class 2 Performance Rights; and
1,266,666 Class 3 Performance Rights.
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SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONT.)
Employee Performance Rights (Unlisted) (cont.)
The Incentive Plan was approved by shareholders at a general meeting held on 29 June 2018 and the Employee
Performance Rights are subject to various vesting conditions and formed part of the Company’s remuneration
arrangements. Refer Note 17 for further details.
On 23 March 2021, the Company issued 1,266,666 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of vested Class
1 Employee Performance Rights.
On 23 April 2021, the Company announced that 683,333 Class 2 and 683,333 Class 3 Employee Performance
Rights had lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Incentive Plan.
The remaining 583,333 Class 2 and 583,333 Class 3 Employee Performance Rights remain unvested at the end of
the current financial year. Total expense recognised as share-based payments during the year was $224,828 (2020:
$nil).

25.

ASSET ACQUISITION
On 24 June 2020, Firefly announced that it had executed a binding agreement with the vendors of Aurum Minerals
Pty Ltd (Aurum) and its subsidiaries to acquire a 100% interest in the advanced Yalgoo Gold Project (WA) through
the issue of 97 million fully paid ordinary shares (Consideration Shares) and 22,999,998 performance rights. An
additional 833,333 fully paid ordinary shares were issued on 6 July 2020 in accordance with the terms of the binding
agreement (Exclusivity Shares).
On 31 July 2020, Firefly completed the acquisition through the issue of the consideration shares and performance
rights to the vendors of Aurum. The performance rights were issued in three equal tranches of 7,666,666 and are
subject to various vesting conditions (refer Note 17 for further details). Upon completion of the acquisition, Firefly
obtained a 100% interest in Aurum’s assets.
The transaction is not a business combination as the Company’s acquired assets did not meet the definition of a
business as defined in AASB 3 Business Combinations. The substance and intent was for the Company to acquire
the exploration and evaluation assets that form the Yalgoo Gold Project, for the purposes of building the Company’s
resource base, in line with its broader strategy of securing advanced gold exploration opportunities in Western
Australia.
The fair value of the assets acquired at the date of acquisition (being 31 July 2020) and share based payments are
outlined as follows:
31 July 2020
($)
Consideration:
Equity instruments issued (833,333 Exclusivity Shares)
Equity instruments issued (97,000,000 Consideration Shares)

25,000
2,910,000

Total Consideration

2,935,000

Value of assets acquired:
Cash and cash equivalent
Trade and other receivables
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Trade and other payables

3,427
1,220
1,008,287
(1,820)

Net Value

1,011,114

Intangible asset – exploration and evaluation asset

1,923,886

Fair value of assets acquired

2,935,000
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26.

SEGMENT NOTE
The Consolidated Entity operates predominantly in the mineral exploration industry in Australia. For management
purposes, the Consolidated Entity is organised into one main operating segment which involves the exploration of
minerals in Australia.
All of the Consolidated Entity’s activities are interrelated and discrete financial information is reporting to the Board
(functioning as the chief operating decision maker) as a single segment.
Accordingly, all significant operating decisions are based upon analysis of the Consolidated Entity as one segment.
The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the financial statements of the Consolidated Entity as a
whole.
Consolidated
2021
2020
$
$

27.

RECONCILIATION OF CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(a)

(b)

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year
Add non-cash items:
Exploration acquisition costs and goodwill written off
Depreciation
Share based payments expense – other securities
Share based payments expense – remuneration shares
Gain on sale of fixed assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities

(8,282,288)

(7,106,167)

95,000
141,495
2,895,177
50,000
5,875

4,643,719
110,531
574,213
(36,177)
7,038

Operating loss before changes in working capital and provisions
Change in trade and other receivables
Change in prepayments
Change in trade and other payables
Change in provisions

(5,094,271)
(86,951)
(55,376)
766,443
17,034

(1,806,843)
(23,118)
3,403
35,578
(14,836)

Net cash used in operating activities

(4,453,121)

(1,805,816)

Non-cash investing and financing activities
On 30 July 2020, the Company issued 97,833,333 fully paid ordinary shares at a deemed issue price of
$0.03 per share as consideration for the purchase of the Yalgoo Gold Project via the acquisition of 100%
of the issued capital of Aurum Minerals Pty Ltd and its related companies.
On 4 August 2020, following shareholder approval granted at a general meeting held on 30 July 2020, the
Company issued 1,666,667 fully paid ordinary shares at a deemed issue price of $0.03 to Michael
Edwards, Non-Executive Chairman, in lieu of director fees.

(c)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

2021
Lease liabilities

2020
Lease liabilities

1 July 2020
$
77,586

1 July 2019
$
-

Additions
$

Cash
flows
$

55,541

(99,201)

Additions
$

Cash
flows
$

148,451

(77,903)
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$
5,875

Other
$
7,038

Balance at
30 June 2021
$
39,801
Balance at
30 June 2020
$
77,586
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Maturity profile of financial instruments
The following table details the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and the maturity profile of financial assets and
financial liabilities:

At 30 June 2021

Weighted
average
interest
rate
%

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

0.01
0.95

Fixed
maturity
(less than
1 year)
$

Variable
interest
rate
$

Non-interest
bearing
$

Total
$

3,789,040
-

57,389

177,764
129,230

3,966,804
186,619

3,789,040

57,389

306,994

4,153,423

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

-

-

949,975
39,800

949,975
39,800

Total financial liabilities

-

-

989,775

989,775

3,789,040

57,389

(682,781)

3,163,648

Fixed
maturity
(less than
1 year)
$

Non-interest
bearing
$

Total
$

Total financial assets

Net financial assets/ (liabilities)

At 30 June 2020

Weighted
average
interest
rate
%

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

832,239
-

57,389

97,274
42,279

929,513
99,668

832,239

57,389

139,553

1,029,181

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

-

-

185,829
77,586

185,829
77,586

Total financial liabilities

-

-

263,415

263,415

832,239

57,389

(123,862)

765,766

Total financial assets

Net financial assets/ (liabilities)

0.05
1.75

Variable
interest
rate
$

Risk and sensitivity
Refer to Note 2 for details on the Consolidated Entity’s approach to financial risk management.
At present, the Consolidated Entity is not exposed to foreign exchange risk or commodity price risk. It does not
have any borrowings, nor does it have exposure to equity securities price risk.
The Consolidated Entity does not presently have customers and consequently does not have credit exposure to
outstanding receivables. Trade and other receivables represent GST refundable from the Australian Taxation Office
and security bonds and deposits. Trade and other receivables are neither past due nor impaired.
The Consolidated Entity is not materially exposed to changes in market interest rates. A 1% variation in interest
rates would result in interest revenue changing by $37,890 (2020: $8,322) based on year end cash balances, and
$574 (2020: $574) based on year end security bonds and deposit balances, assuming all other variables remain
unchanged.
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GROUP STRUCTURE
Demerger of non-core manganese assets
On 18 December 2020, following consultation with the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX), the Company
announced that its directors had resolved to demerge the Company’s 100%-owned Oakover Manganese Project in
Western Australia, subject to shareholder and other approvals, via its wholly-owned subsidiary, Firebird Metals
Limited (Firebird) (Demerger).
The decision was based on a thorough review of the Group’s assets that considered a range of options. The Board
ultimately concluded that the Demerger would deliver optimal value to Firefly shareholders, with Firebird to
undertake an initial public offer (IPO) of its securities to facilitate an ASX listing in conjunction with the Demerger.
On 31 December 2020. Firebird undertook a debt for equity conversion of all amounts due to related companies,
following which, resulted in the issue of 24,999,900 Firebird shares to its parent entity, Firefly. Firefly had an existing
holding of 100 Firebird shares and held 25 million Firebird shares as at 31 December 2020.
The IPO included a form of priority offer to Firefly shareholders, and eligible Firefly shareholders were eligible for
an in-specie distribution of 25 million Firebird shares held by its parent entity.
On 18 February 2021, Firefly received shareholder approval for the in-specie distribution of 25 million Firebird
shares. To effect the demerger, the in-specie distribution of 25 million Firebird shares to eligible Firefly shareholders
was completed on 12 March 2021 and Firebird shares commenced normal trading on the ASX on 18 March 2021.
Firefly received $500,000 in cash from Firebird as partial reimbursement for historical development expenditure
incurred on the Oakover Project.
The Group recognised the following loss on deconsolidation of Firebird Metals Limited:
March 2021
($)
Fair value of Firebird1
In-specie distribution of consideration received2
Net assets of Firebird Metals Limited

5,000,000
(5,000,000)
100

Loss on deconsolidation

100

Notes to the above:
1.
2.

30.

The fair value of Firebird on demerger, being $5 million, was calculated using the IPO price of $0.20 multiplied by the number
of Firebird shares held by Firefly, being 25 million shares.
The in-specie distribution of the Company’s shares in Firebird to eligible shareholders was completed on 12 March 2021
prior to Firebird being admitted to the Official List of the ASX on 18 March 2021.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
Merger with Gascoyne Resources Limited
On 16 June 2021, the Company announced that it had entered into a binding scheme implementation deed with
Gascoyne Resources Limited (Gascoyne) (ASX: GCY), under which the two companies will merge by way of
scheme of arrangement, with Gascoyne to acquire all of the issued shares in Firefly in consideration for the issue
of 0.34 fully paid ordinary shares in Gascoyne for each Firefly share (Scheme).
On 7 September 2021, the Company announced that the Supreme Court of Western Australia has made orders
approving the dispatch of the scheme booklet and ordered the convening of a meeting for Firefly shareholders to
consider, and if thought fit, approve the Scheme. The scheme booklet was registered with ASIC on 8 September
2021 and dispatched to Firefly shareholders on 10 September 2021.
Demerger of Firetail Resources Limited
In conjunction with the Scheme, the Company and Gascoyne have agreed to the terms of a demerger of various
assets, including the Paterson Copper-Gold Project, the Forrestania Gold Project and lithium mineral rights over
various tenements held by both Firefly and Gascoyne, which are to be acquired by a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Firefly, Firetail Resources Limited (Firetail) (Demerger).
The Demerger will be conducted by way of an equal capital reduction in Firefly and an in-specie distribution of
shares in Firetail to Firefly shareholders as well as the issue of shares in Firetail to Gascoyne.
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EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE (CONT.)
Demerger of Firetail Resources Limited (cont.)
Firetail will initially be an unlisted public company with an intention to seek an ASX listing at a later date following
implementation of the Scheme. As part of the Demerger, Firefly will make available up to $1.5 million in cash to
Firetail which will comprise the payment of certain Firetail expenses (including reimbursement of transaction costs
and immediate working capital requirements) with the remainder of such amount to be transferred to Firetail (subject
to certain conditions).
Exercise of Unlisted Options
On 30 July 2021, the Company issued 1,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares following the exercise of 500,000
unlisted options with a $0.08 exercise price and 30 September 2022 expiry date and a further 500,000 unlisted
options with a $0.11 exercise price and 30 September 2022 expiry date, raising $95,000 before costs.
Completion of sale of the Forrestania Gold Project
On 31 August 2021, the Company announced that Forrestania Resources Limited (Forrestania Resources)
exercised the option to acquire the non-core Forrestania Gold Project (see ASX announcement, 17 March 2021).
On 30 September 2021, the Company announced completion of the sale after receiving $1.25 million worth of
shares in Forrestania Resources plus $50,000 cash, with a further milestone consideration of $500,000 in shares
payable on the definition of a JORC 2012 Resource of at least 250,000oz of gold at over 2g/t Au.
As part of the proposed Demerger, all consideration received by Firefly for the sale of the Forrestania Gold Project
will be transferred or assigned to Firetail in accordance with the demerger agreements executed by Firefly and
Gascoyne.
Refer ASX Announcements dated 17 March 2021, 31 August 2021 and 30 September 2021 for further details of
the sale.
Other events
Apart from the above, there has not arisen between the end of the reporting period and the date of this report any
item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to affect significantly
the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial
years.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
In the opinion of the Directors of Firefly Resources Limited:
(a)

the consolidated financial statements and notes, set out on pages 34 to 66 are in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001 (Cth) (Corporations Act), including:
i.

giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and its
performance for the financial year on that date; and

ii.

complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory
professional reporting standards; and

(b)

the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board; and

(c)

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become
due and payable.

This declaration has been made after receiving the declaration from the Managing Director required by section 295A of
the Corporations Act for the year ended 30 June 2021.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors, made pursuant to section 295 (5)(a) of the Corporations Act.

Dated at Perth, Western Australia this 30th day of September 2021.

Michael Edwards
Non-Executive Chairman

67

PO Box 1908
West Perth WA 6872
Australia
Level 2, 1 Walker Avenue
West Perth WA 6005
Australia
Tel: +61 8 9481 3188
Fax: +61 8 9321 1204
ABN: 84 144 581 519
www.stantons.com.au

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF
FIREFLY RESOURCES LIMITED
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report
Our Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Firefly Resources Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries
(the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the
directors' declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:
(i)

giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its financial
performance for the year then ended; and

(ii)

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
Stantons Is a member of the Russell
Bedford International network of firms

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.
We have determined the following matters described to be Key Audit Matters to be communicated in
our report.
Key Audit Matters

How these matters were addressed in the
audit

Carrying Value of Exploration and
Evaluation Assets
As disclosed in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying value of the
exploration and evaluation assets as at 30
June 2021 was $3,434,106 (2020: $95,000).
We have identified the carrying value of
exploration and evaluation assets as a key
audit matter due to:
•

The necessity to assess management’s
application of the requirements of the
accounting standard Exploration for and
Evaluation of Mineral Resources (“AASB
6”), in light of any indicators of impairment
that may be present; and

•

The assessment of significant judgements
made by management in relation to the
capitalised exploration and evaluation
assets.

Inter alia, our audit procedures included the
following:
i. Assessed the Group’s right to tenure over
exploration assets by corroborating the
ownership of the relevant licences for
mineral resources to government registries
and relevant third-party documentation;
ii. Reviewed the Board’s assessment of the
carrying
value
of
the
capitalised
exploration and evaluation expenditure
ensuring the veracity of the data presented
and
assessing
management’s
consideration of potential impairment
indicators, commodity prices and the stage
of the Group’s projects in accordance with
AASB 6;
iii. Evaluated the Group’s documents for
consistency with the intentions for
continuing exploration and evaluation
activities in areas of interest and
corroborated
in
discussions
with
management.
The
documents
we
evaluated included:
▪ Minutes of the board and management;
and
▪ Announcements made by the Group to
the Australian Securities Exchange;
and
iv. Evaluated the adequacy of disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with the relevant accounting
standards.

Key Audit Matters

How these matters were addressed in the
audit

Issued Capital
As disclosed in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Company’s issued
capital as at 30 June 2021 amounted to
$52,189,500. During the year 227,394,676
ordinary shares were issued resulting in a net
increase in issued capital of $11,243,763 net
of capital raising costs.

Inter alia, our audit procedures included the
following:
i.

Obtained an understanding of the
underlying transactions which occurred;

ii. Verified all issued capital movement to
relevant ASX announcements;

Significant amount of audit effort was spent on
ensuring that issued capital was accounted for
correctly and disclosed appropriately in the
financial report.

iii. Vouched proceeds from capital raisings to
bank statements and other supporting
documentation;

Issued capital is a key audit matter due to the
quantum of share capital issued during the
year.

iv. Verified underlying capital raising costs
and
ensured
these
costs
were
appropriately recorded;
v. Ensured consideration
for services
provided or assets acquired are measured
in accordance with accounting standard
AASB 2 Share-based Payment and
agreed the related costs and valuation to
relevant supporting documentation; and
vi. Assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures within the financial report.

Measurement of Share-based Payments
As disclosed in Note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements, the following sharebased payments transactions have occurred
during the year:
- On 26 November 2020, 16,000,000
unlisted options were granted to the
Company’s corporate advisor for the
provision of services in relation to a share
placement;
- On 26 November 2020, shareholders
approved the grant of 15,099,996
performance rights to Directors of the
Company subject to various vesting
conditions; and
- On 4 December 2020, the Company
granted 3,799,998 performance rights to
employees of the Company subject to
various vesting conditions.
As disclosed in Note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Company completed
the acquisition
of Yalgoo Gold Project
(Project) and has issued 97,833,333 ordinary
shares as consideration shares and granted
22,999,998 performance rights to the vendors

Inter alia, our audit procedures included the
following:
i.

Reviewed the relevant agreements to
obtain an understanding of the
contractual nature and terms and
conditions of the share-based payment
arrangements;

ii.

Reviewed management’s determination
of the fair value of the share-based
payments granted, considering the
appropriateness of the valuation
models used in assessing the valuation
inputs focusing on the Group’s
interpretation of grant date, vesting
dates and vesting conditions;

iii.

Assessed the allocation of the sharebased payment expense over the
relevant vesting period; and

iv.

Assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards.

How these matters were addressed in the
audit

Key Audit Matters
of Project. The performance rights are subject
to various vesting conditions.
The Company accounted for these options
and performance rights in accordance AASB
2: Share-based Payment.
Measurement of share-based payments was
a key audit matter due to the complex and
judgmental estimates used in determining the
fair value of the share-based payments.

Asset Acquisition
As disclosed in Note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Company executed a
Binding Agreement to acquire a 100% interest
in Yalgoo Gold Project. On 31 July 2020, the
Company has completed the acquisition
through the issuance of 97,833,333 ordinary
shares and 22,999,998 performance rights.
This area is a key audit matter due to the
material nature of the transaction as well as
the
significant
judgment
involved
in
considering whether to account for this
transaction as a business combination or an
asset acquisition.

Inter alia, our audit procedures included the
following:
i.

Reviewed the sale and purchase
agreement and other supporting
documents to confirm consideration
and assets being acquired;

ii.

Confirmed shares and performance
shares issued to Appendix 2As and
share registry;

iii. Reviewed recognition requirements of
AASB3 Business Combinations; and
iv. Assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards.

Demerger
of
deconsolidation

subsidiary

and

As disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial
statements,
the
Company
announced the demerger of its 100%-owned
Oakover Manganese Project in Western
Australia, via its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Firebird Metals Limited (Firebird).
On 31 December 2020, Firebird undertook a
debt for equity conversion of all amounts due
to related companies, following which,
resulted in the issue of 24,999,900 Firebird
shares to the Company. The Company had an
existing holding of 100 Firebird shares and
held 25 million Firebird shares as at 31
December 2020.
On 18 February 2021, the Company received
shareholder approval for the in-specie
distribution of 25 million Firebird shares to the
Company’s existing shareholders. To effect

Inter alia, our audit procedures included the
following:
i.

Performed the audit of Firebird
accounts for the period ended 12 March
2021;

ii.

Reviewed the relevant
documents, mainly:
✓
✓

supporting

Minutes of the Board and
Management; and
Announcements made by the
Group to the Australian Securities
exchanges;

iii. Reviewed the in-specie distribution and
deconsolidation workings to ensure
transactions have been accounted for
correctly; and

Key Audit Matters
the demerger, the in-specie distribution of 25
million Firebird shares to eligible Firefly
shareholders was completed on 12 March
2021 and Firebird shares commenced normal
trading on the ASX on 18 March 2021.

How these matters were addressed in the
audit
iv. Assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards.

Effective 12 March 2021, the Group ceased to
fully consolidated Firebird’s results within the
Group’s consolidated accounts.
The Group has recognised loss of $100 as a
result of the deconsolidation.
We have determined the demerger and
deconsolidation of a subsidiary as a key audit
matter due to the complexity of the
deconsolidation process required to properly
exclude Firebird as a subsidiary and the fact
that this is material to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Group's annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021 but does not
include the financial report and our auditor's report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act
2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. An audit involves performing
procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of the financial
report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's
internal control.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial report.
We conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to
the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
We evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
We obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.
We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in Internal control that we
identify during our audit.

The Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit
engagements. We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

Report on the Remuneration Report
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30
June 2021. The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.
Opinion on the Remuneration Report
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Firefly Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June
2021 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

STANTONS INTERNATIONAL AUDIT AND CONSULTING PTY LTD
(An Authorised Audit Company)

Samir Tirodkar
Director
West Perth, Western Australia
30 September 2021

PO Box 1908
West Perth WA 6872
Australia
Level 2, 1 Walker Avenue
West Perth WA 6005
Australia
Tel: +61 8 9481 3188
Fax: +61 8 9321 1204
ABN: 84 144 581 519
www.stantons.com.au

30 September 2021

Board of Directors
Firefly Resources Limited
T2, 64-68 Hay Street
Subiaco, WA 6008

Dear Directors
RE:

FIREFLY RESOURCES LIMITED

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following
declaration of independence to the directors of Firefly Resources Limited.
As Audit Director for the audit of the financial statements of Firefly Resources Limited for the year ended
30 June 2021, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions
of
(i)

the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

(ii)

any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Yours sincerely
STANTONS INTERNATIONAL AUDIT AND CONSULTING PTY LTD

Samir Tirodkar
Director

Liability limited by a scheme approved
under Professional Standards Legislation

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
Details of shares, options and performance rights as at 28 September 2021:
Top holders
The 20 largest registered holders of each class of quoted equity security as at 28 September 2021 were:
Fully paid ordinary shares – quoted
Name
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.

Sparta AG
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd <IB AU Noms Retail Client DRP>
Mr Robert Jewson
Kitara Investments Pty Ltd
Tristar Nominees Pty Ltd
DC & PC Holdings Pty Ltd
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited
Mr Faris Cassim
Sisu International Pty Ltd
Konkera Pty Ltd
Kingslane Pty Ltd
Mr Thomas Henderson
New Discovery Pty Ltd
Mr Don Batley & Mr Ian Vause
Shadwick Nominees Pty Ltd
Freshwater Resources Pty Ltd
Silk-Roads Worldwide Logistics Australia Pty Ltd
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd HUB24 Custodial Serv Ltd
Tisia Nominees Pty Ltd
Croft Mining Pty Ltd
Total

No. of
Shares

%

23,712,078
18,902,586
17,647,017
13,660,000
10,894,322
8,000,000
6,205,924
6,200,000
5,987,654
5,987,654
4,666,668
4,225,585
3,991,765
3,766,094
3,533,333
3,382,222
3,303,155
2,706,453
2,705,580
2,694,444

7.69
6.13
5.72
4.43
3.53
2.59
2.01
2.01
1.94
1.94
1.51
1.37
1.29
1.22
1.15
1.10
1.07
0.88
0.88
0.87

156,279,675

50.68

Distribution schedules
A distribution schedule of each class of equity security as at 28 September 2021:
Fully paid ordinary shares
Range
1
1,001
5,001
10,001
100,001

-

Holders

Units

%

1,000
5,000
10,000
100,000
Over

565
768
499
1,108
298

224,646
2,290,897
3,921,856
40,412,776
261,489,355

0.07
0.74
1.27
13.11
84.81

Total

3,238

308,339,530

100

Unlisted options
The following unlisted options are presently on issue:

Class

Expiry
Date

Exercise
Price

No. of
Options

No. of
Holders

Unlisted Placement Options
Unlisted Advisor Options
Unlisted Advisor Options
Unlisted Related-Party Options
Unlisted Related-Party Options
Unlisted Employee Options
Unlisted Employee Options
Unlisted Corporate Options

31 March 2022
30 September 2022
30 September 2022
31 December 2021
31 December 2022
31 December 2021
31 December 2022
4 June 2022

$0.58
$0.08
$0.11
$0.10
$0.12
$0.10
$0.12
$0.23

399,999
1,750,000
3,250,000
2,000,000
2,000,000
650,000
650,000
16,000,000

4
2
4
4
4
4
4
11

76

Distribution
10,000100,000
>100,000
3
2
2
-

1
2
4
4
4
2
2
11

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
Unlisted options (cont.)
The holders with over 20% holding as at 28 September 2021 were:

Class

Number of
Securities
on issue

Number of
Holders

Name of Holders holding more
than 20%

Number
Held

399,999

3

Argonaut Investments Pty Limited
Tisia Nominees Pty Ltd

283,333
833,333

Advisor Options expiring on 30
September 2022 at $0.08 each

1,750,000

2

Denlin Nominees Pty Ltd
Black Planet Thoroughbreds Pty Ltd

1,250,000
500,000

Advisor Options expiring on 30
September 2022 at $0.11 each

3,250,000

4

Denlin Nominees Pty Ltd
Tisia Nominees Pty Ltd

1,250,000
1,250,000

Black Planet Thoroughbreds Pty Ltd

500,000

Shadwick Nominees Pty Ltd
Geoffrey Jones
Simon Lawson

500,000
500,000
500,000

Placement Options expiring on 31
March 2022 at $0.58 each

Related-Party Options expiring on 31
December 2021 at $0.10 each

Related-Party Options expiring on 31
December 2021 at $0.12 each

2,000,000

2,000,000

4

JCO Investments Pty Ltd

500,000

Shadwick Nominees Pty Ltd

500,000

Geoffrey Jones
Simon Lawson

500,000
500,000

JCO Investments Pty Ltd

500,000

4

Employee Options expiring on 31
December 2021 at $0.10 each

650,000

4

Simon Lawson

500,000

Employee Options expiring on 31
December 2021 at $0.12 each

650,000

4

Simon Lawson

500,000

16,000,000

11

Kitara Investments Pty Ltd

4,500,000

Corporate Options expiring on 4 June
2022 at $0.23 each

Unlisted performance rights
The following unlisted performance rights are presently on issue:

Class

No. of
Performance
Rights

Vendor Performance Rights - Class A
Vendor Performance Rights - Class B
Vendor Performance Rights - Class C
Director Performance Rights - Class 2
Director Performance Rights – Class 3
Employee Performance Rights – Class 2
Employee Performance Rights – Class 3

7,666,666
7,666,666
7,666,666
5,033,332
5,033,332
583,333
583,333

No. of
Holders
22
22
22
4
4
5
5

Distribution
10,000100,000
>100,000
4
4
4
4
4

18
18
18
4
4
1
1

Substantial shareholders
The names of substantial shareholders in the Company as at 28 September 2021, and the number of shares to which
each substantial shareholder and their associates have a relevant interest, as disclosed in substantial shareholding
notices given to the Company, are set out below:
No. of
Shares

Name
1.
2.
3.
4.

Sparta AG
Mr Tolga Kumova
Mr Kevin Puil
Mr Robert Jewson

23,712,078
19,647,654
18,902,586
17,647,017
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
Restricted Securities or securities subject to voluntary escrow
As at 28 September 2021, the Company had no restricted securities on issue.
As at 28 September 2021, the Company had no securities subject to voluntary escrow on issue.
Unmarketable parcels
Holdings less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares as at 28 September 2021:
Value

Holders

Units

$500

1,177

1,760,491

Voting Rights
The voting rights attaching to ordinary shares are:
On a show of hands, every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote, and upon a poll, each share
shall have one vote.
Unlisted options and performance rights do not carry any voting rights.
On-Market Buy Back
There is no current on-market buy-back.
Corporate Governance
The Board has adopted and approved the Company’s 2021 Corporate Governance Statement, which can be found on
the Company’s website at https://www.fireflyresources.com.au/.
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SUMMARY OF TENEMENTS
Schedule of Tenements as at 30 September 2021
Tenement
Number

Area
(blocks)

Registered Holder

Status

Interest

Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo

E 59/2468
E 59/2469
E 59/2458
E 59/2456
P 59/2134

4
3
38
8
4.04 HA

Firefly Resources Limited
Firefly Resources Limited
Firefly Resources Limited
Firefly Resources Limited
Firefly Resources Limited

Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

P 59/2087

119 HA

Firefly Resources Limited

Granted

100%

Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Yalgoo
Egerton
Egerton
Paterson
Paterson
Paterson
Paterson
Paterson
Paterson
Paterson

P 59/2086
M 59/0384
M 59/0358
M 59/0057
P 59/2040
P 59/2042
E 59/2364
E 59/2363
P 59/2158
E 59/2295
E 59/2284
P 59/2138
E 59/2252
E 59/2230
E 59/2140-I
E 59/2077
P 59/2088
P 59/2089
M 59/0767
E 59/2544
E 59/2543
E 59/2534
E 59/2478
E 59/2459
E 59/2460
E 59/2457
E 52/3894
E 52/3756
E 45/5407
E 45/5396
E 45/5397
E 45/5391
E 45/5358
E 45/5831
E 45/5971

39 HA
98.185 HA
189.15 HA
76.535 HA
64 HA
2 HA
45
1
43.74 HA
47
6
48.82 HA
34
11
37
34
119.94 HA
119.85 HA
338.17 HA
24
35
50
46
40
41
49
24
4
87
76
51
173
68
8
48

Firefly Resources Limited
Firefly Resources Limited
Firefly Resources Limited
Firefly Resources Limited
Lightning Bug Resources Pty Ltd
Lightning Bug Resources Pty Ltd
Yalgoo Exploration Pty Ltd
Yalgoo Exploration Pty Ltd
Yalgoo Exploration Pty Ltd
Yalgoo Exploration Pty Ltd
Yalgoo Exploration Pty Ltd
Yalgoo Exploration Pty Ltd
Yalgoo Exploration Pty Ltd
Yalgoo Exploration Pty Ltd
Yalgoo Exploration Pty Ltd
Yalgoo Exploration Pty Ltd
Yalgoo Exploration Pty Ltd
Yalgoo Exploration Pty Ltd
Yalgoo Exploration Pty Ltd
Lightning Bug Resources Pty Ltd
Lightning Bug Resources Pty Ltd
Lightning Bug Resources Pty Ltd
Firefly Resources Limited
Firefly Resources Limited
Firefly Resources Limited
Firefly Resources Limited
Firefly Resources Limited
Firefly Resources Limited
Firefly Operations Pty Ltd
Firefly Operations Pty Ltd
Firefly Operations Pty Ltd
Firefly Operations Pty Ltd
Firefly Operations Pty Ltd
Firefly Operations Pty Ltd
Firefly Operations Pty Ltd

Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Application
Application
Application
Application
Application
Application
Application
Application
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Granted
Application

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
-

Project
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